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PREFACE




The Fighter

(1967–2019)

On May 18, 1981, four Wall Street bankers traveled to Wichita, Kansas. They went there to make an offer to Charles Koch, the CEO of an obscure, midsize energy company. The bankers, from Morgan Stanley, wanted to convince Koch to take his family’s company public, offering shares for sale on the New York Stock Exchange. Their deal was squarely in line with the conventional wisdom of corporate America at the time. Going public was seen as a natural progression for companies like Koch Industries, offering them access to big pools of money and promising enormous paydays for the existing team of executives. All it required from the CEO was to surrender control. Morgan Stanley, in return, would collect a small fortune in fees.

Charles Koch was forty-five years old. He had run Koch Industries since he was thirty-two, when his father died suddenly. He was trim, tall, and had an athlete’s build. He spoke quietly in meetings and seemed almost passive. The bankers laid out their plan to take Koch public. They revealed what, to most executives, at least, might have been the most significant detail: if Charles Koch agreed to the deal, he could earn $20 million overnight. The bankers seemed incredulous when they prepared a confidential memo about Koch’s reaction.

“He does not want this cash,” the memo reported.

Charles Koch calmly explained to them why their offer made no sense. His company was breathtakingly profitable. It operated in vital, deeply complex corners of the American energy industry. During the 1980s, Koch Industries was the largest purchaser and transporter of US crude oil. It owned an oil refinery. It employed teams of commodities traders who bought and sold a wildly diverse menu of raw materials and financial products, from gasoline to paper futures contracts. This might have encouraged most CEOs to take their company public. Koch Industries, however, did not want outsiders to know how much money its traders were earning. Taking the company public would expose too many of its secrets.

“Certain of [Koch’s] commodity traders are particularly worried that their high salaries, once disclosed to the public, would be used against them by their trading partners,” the memo said.

Secrecy was a strategic necessity for Koch Industries. Charles Koch did not want to surrender it. He also didn’t want to surrender control. He had a specific, clear vision of how to run his company, and he didn’t need Wall Street investors to interfere.

If the bankers expected Charles Koch to go along with the conventional wisdom of their time, then they, like so many outsiders, did not understand him. Beneath his low-key veneer, Charles Koch was, at his core, a fighter. He had unmovable ideas about how things should be, and he did not back down when challenged. When he was challenged by his own brothers for control of Koch Industries, he fought them in a bitter legal battle that lasted decades. When he was challenged by members of a powerful labor union during his first years as CEO, he fought them even as they committed an act of industrial sabotage that nearly destroyed Koch’s oil refinery. When the FBI and the US Department of Justice launched a criminal investigation into Koch Industries’ oil gathering business, Charles Koch fought them with every legal and political tool at his disposal. When a liberal Congress and President Barack Obama sought to impose regulations on the fossil fuel industry to control greenhouse gas emissions, Charles Koch fought them in ways that changed US politics.

In each of these fights, Charles Koch prevailed.

When Charles Koch dismissed the bankers in 1981, it was just a small skirmish in the larger war to control Koch Industries. After prevailing in that fight, he created a company that was true to his vision. He avoided the snares that entangled many publicly traded companies that report their financial results to investors every three months. Koch Industries didn’t have to think quarter to quarter. The company thinks year to year. An internal think tank and deal-making committee, called the development group, will sometimes think through a business deal on a timeline measured in decades. This long-term view made Koch nimble where other companies stumbled. In 2003, for example, Koch Industries bought a group of money-losing fertilizer plants when no publicly traded company was willing to take the risk. Today those plants are as profitable as a broken ATM machine that spews out cash around the clock. Unlike publicly traded companies, Koch Industries does not pay out rich dividends to investors. Charles Koch insists on reinvesting at least 90 percent of the company’s profits, fueling its constant expansion.

This strategy laid the foundation for decades of continuous growth. Koch Industries expanded continuously by purchasing other companies and branching out into new industries. It specialized in the kind of businesses that are indispensable to modern civilization but which most consumers never directly encounter. The company is embedded in the hidden infrastructure of everyday life. Millions of people use Koch’s products without ever seeing Koch’s name attached. Koch refines and distributes fossil fuels, from gasoline to jet fuel, on which the global economy is dependent. Koch is the world’s third largest producer of nitrogen fertilizer, which is the cornerstone of the modern food system. Koch makes the synthetic materials used in baby diapers, waistbands, and carpets. It makes the chemicals used for plastic bottles and pipes. It owns Georgia-Pacific, which makes the wall panels, beams, and plywood required to build homes and office buildings. It makes napkins, paper towels, stationery, newspaper, and personal hygiene products. Koch Industries owns a network of commodities trading offices in Houston, Moscow, Geneva, and elsewhere, which are the circulatory system of modern finance. Koch traders sell everything from fertilizer, to rare metals, to fuel, to abstract derivatives contracts. Koch Industries’ annual revenue is larger than that of Facebook, Goldman Sachs, and US Steel combined.

The profits from Koch’s activities are stunning. Charles Koch and his brother David own roughly 80 percent of Koch Industries. Together the two men are worth $120 billion. Their fortune is larger than that of Amazon CEO Jeff Bezos, or Microsoft founder Bill Gates. Yet David and Charles Koch did not invent a major new product or revolutionize any industry. The Koch brothers derived their wealth through a patient, long-term strategy of seizing opportunities in complex and often opaque corners of the economic system.

This book tells the history of Koch Industries and shows how the Koch brothers’ fortune was made. In doing so, it also provides a portrait of the American economy since the 1960s. Koch’s operations span the entire landscape of the American economy. The company’s story is the story of America’s energy system, of its blue-collar factory workers, of millionaire derivatives traders, corporate lobbyists, and private equity deal makers. To examine Koch is to examine the modern American economy.

This account is based on hundreds of hours of interviews, conducted over six years, with dozens of current and former Koch Industries employees, managers, whistle-blowers, and senior executives, including Charles Koch. Also interviewed were outside regulators, prosecutors, politicians, bankers, and competitors. These verbal accounts were supplemented by internal company memos, minutes of executive meetings kept by firsthand witnesses, government documents declassified for this book, legal transcripts, regulatory filings, contemporaneous news accounts, and other documents.

Ralph Waldo Emerson famously said that an institution is the lengthened shadow of one man. This observation would seem to be particularly true of Koch Industries, which has been led by one CEO since 1967. Charles Koch’s control of the company is complete. His portrait hangs in the company’s lobby, and employees are trained with his videotaped speeches. Every employee must embrace Charles Koch’s highly detailed philosophy called Market-Based Management. But Emerson’s quote captured only half of the truth about institutions. They are shadows of people, but they are also shadows of the political and economic systems in which they exist. A large corporation in China, for example, is quite different from a large corporation based in America. The laws, culture, and economic incentives are radically different in each nation. Koch Industries, then, reflects an American system in which it grew and thrived.

When Charles Koch took control of the company, America operated under a political framework called the New Deal, which was characterized by dramatic government interventions into the private marketplace, empowered labor unions, tightly regulated energy companies, and a shackled financial industry. Charles Koch despised it. He subscribed to the philosophy of Austrian economists such as Ludwig von Mises, who believed that government intervention only created more harm than good. During Charles Koch’s career, the New Deal system fell apart. The system wasn’t replaced by a libertarian society, as Charles Koch might have wanted, but by a dysfunctional political economy characterized by selective deregulation coupled with a sprawling welfare and regulatory state. Charles Koch didn’t just operate within this political framework. He dedicated his life to transforming it. He created a political influence network that is arguably the most powerful and far-reaching operation ever run out of an American CEO’s office. Koch Industries has one of the largest, most well-funded lobbying operations in the United States. Its efforts are coupled with a nationwide army of activists and volunteers called Americans for Prosperity, along with a constellation of Koch-funded think tanks and university-based programs. Charles Koch’s political vision represents one extreme pole in the ongoing debate about the role of government in markets; a view that government should essentially protect private property and do little else. Political figures on the opposite pole believe that a robust federal government should provide a safety net and contain the power of large corporations. There is currently no political consensus in support of either view.

As the argument between these visions drags on in a stalemate, the modern American economy is one that favors giant companies over the small, and the politically connected over the independent. More than anything, it favors companies that can master complexity—the complexity of interconnected and global marketplaces, and the complexity of wide-reaching, intrusive regulatory regimes.

Charles Koch frequently derides the current political era as one of “crony capitalism,” but the company he built is perfectly suited to thrive in this environment. Koch Industries employs an army of legal experts to navigate the extensive legal intrusion of the state. A similarly large group of market analysts and traders navigate the fractured and byzantine markets of energy products. It is revealing that Koch Industries expands, almost exclusively, into businesses that are uncompetitive, dominated by monopolistic firms, and deeply intertwined with government subsidies and regulation.

To take just one example: Koch derives much of its profits from oil refineries. The entire economy depends on refined oil, but no one has built a new oil refinery in the United States since 1977. The industry is dominated by entrenched players who run aged facilities at near-full capacity, reaping profits that are among the highest in the world. A single refinery shutdown causes gasoline prices to spike across entire regions of the United States. The underlying cause of this dysfunction is a set of loopholes in the Clean Air Act, a massive set of regulations passed in 1963 (and significantly expanded in 1970) that imposed pollution controls on new refineries. The legacy oil refiners, including Koch, exploited arcane sections of the law that allowed them to expand their old facilities while avoiding clean-air standards that would apply to new facilities. This gave them an insurmountable advantage over any potential new competitor. The absence of new refineries to stoke competition and drive down prices meant that Americans paid higher prices for gasoline.

Koch Industries has applied its profits to maximum advantage. In 2018, the company’s headquarters campus in Wichita resembled a fortified kingdom. The facility was expanded in 2014, with the addition of several thousand square feet of office space in buildings arrayed at the base of the iconic Koch Tower—a large building with black windows and gleaming dark granite. The renovation also included the installation of a tall, earthen wall surrounding the north side of the campus. A local city street was diverted around the wall, at Koch’s expense, to keep passersby at a safe distance. Seldom has a company gained such deep reach into so many Americans’ lives while simultaneously walling itself away into an insular community.

Koch Industries’ employees arrive to work early, creating small traffic jams at entrances to the campus, under the watch of security guards. Many of them enter Koch Tower through an underground pedestrian tunnel, passing a series of photo collages that memorialize Koch’s history. They reach an underground lobby and an elevator bank, where the portrait of Charles Koch hangs on the wall. It is one of those composite portraits, made of countless tiny images that combine to form a larger picture. The tiny images are of Koch’s employees; the larger picture is Charles Koch. Across the lobby, employees shop at the company store, called Hot Commodities, where they can buy coffee or an audio CD relating the history of founder Fred Koch. There is a magazine rack stocked with glossy copies of the company newsletter, called Discovery, which regularly features columns by Charles Koch.

When each employee is hired, he or she undergoes a multiday training session to learn the tenets of Charles Koch’s philosophy, Market-Based Management, or MBM as they call it. Charles Koch says the philosophy is a blueprint for achieving prosperity and freedom. It is equally applicable to business ventures, personal habits, and national government. Adherence to the creed is nonnegotiable for anyone who remains at Koch Industries. Charles Koch, in one of his books, writes that an “act of conversion” is necessary for MBM to be effective. It cannot be adopted in bits and pieces. The Ten Guiding Principles of MBM are printed and hung above cubicles throughout company headquarters. When employees get free coffee in the break room, the Guiding Principles are printed on their disposable cups. The employees learn MBM’s vocabulary and speak a language among themselves that only they truly understand. They drop phrases like “mental models,” “experimental discovery,” and “decision rights,” that instantly convey deep meaning to insiders. The employees become more than employees; they become citizens of an institution with its own vocabulary, its own incentives, and its own goals in the world. The financial success of Koch Industries only reinforces the idea that what they are doing is right and that the tenets of MBM are indeed the key to proper living.

Because this book is the biography of an institution, not an individual, many people will come and go through its pages. Readers will meet Heather Faragher, a Koch employee who blew the whistle on systematic wrongdoing inside Koch, only to face the harshest consequences. Readers will meet Bernard Paulson, a hard-driving executive who helped Koch Industries break the back of a militant labor union. They will meet Dean Watson, a rising star at Koch Industries, who embraced the teachings of Market-Based Management but whose career collapsed under the weight of his own ambition. They will meet Philip Dubose, a Koch employee who stole oil to make his bosses happy. They will meet Steve Hammond, a warehouse worker who negotiated for workers’ rights against his bosses at Koch. And they will meet Brenden O’Neill, a striving middle-class man from Wichita who became a millionaire on Koch’s commodity trading floors. Unfortunately, many of these people will arrive and then fall away as Koch Industries moves forward and changes with the times. This is the nature of large institutions. The people in them come and go. If it is difficult to keep track of so many individuals, readers can turn to an alphabetical directory of characters at the end of the book.

There is one person, however, who is present for the entire fifty-plus-year span of this story. He resides, almost the entire time, at the pinnacle of power at Koch Industries, driving it forward, shaping it to his vision, and reaping its great rewards. Charles Koch is the author, more than anybody, of Koch Industries’ story.

Even though his influence is felt throughout Koch Industries, and throughout America’s political system, Charles Koch remains a remarkably opaque figure. He prizes his privacy and cherishes secrecy. Countless people have tried to understand Charles Koch by looking at him from outside the tall walls and dark glass windows of Koch Industries headquarters. One of those people is an FBI special agent named James Elroy. He dedicated many years of his life to investigating the leadership organization of Koch Industries. Elroy was convinced, in 1988, that Charles Koch and his lieutenants were engaged in a massive criminal conspiracy.

That is why Elroy positioned himself, one day, in the middle of an Oklahoma cow pasture, holding a camera with a wide-angle lens, trying to surveil Charles Koch’s employees. That is the moment where this book begins.



PART 1





THE KOCH METHOD




CHAPTER 1




Under Surveillance

(1987–1989)

FBI special agent James Elroy stood on a remote expanse of pastureland and waited for the man from Koch Oil to arrive. Elroy had a 600-millimeter camera, a telephoto lens, and plenty of film. Perhaps most importantly, he also had a bag of feed cubes for the cattle. Elroy had arrived early at this carefully chosen spot to stake out his position. He stood at a place with a commanding view of a large, cylindrical oil tank. The tank was one of hundreds just like it that were scattered throughout the Oklahoma countryside, sitting on land that was desolate on its surface but which covered rich deposits of underground crude-oil lakes. The oil was slowly drained by unmanned pumps that bobbed up and down day and night, drawing out the crude and sending it into the big metal tanks. When those tanks were finally full, an employee from Koch Oil would arrive in a big truck, siphon out the fuel, and take it to market. Elroy planned to be ready for him.

Elroy opened the feed bag, grabbed handfuls of cubes, and scattered them on the ground. Soon enough, the cattle began to congregate around him, lowering their heads to sniff through the grass and pick out pieces of their unexpected meal. As he hoped would happen, Elroy was soon fully encircled by the cattle. On the flatland prairies of Oklahoma, this was about the only way to stay hidden.

For a long time, it was just Elroy out there, all alone. The nearest town was called Nowata, and it wasn’t much more than a tiny grid of neighborhoods surrounding a strip of one-story brick buildings that passed as downtown. In Nowata, the main drag wasn’t called Main Street: it was called Cherokee Avenue. Elroy was standing in “Indian Country,” as outsiders called it, the Indian reservations that were home to the last remnants of American tribes like the Osage and Cherokee. Elroy was familiar with this country, having been an FBI agent in Oklahoma City for several years. During his time in Oklahoma, Elroy had developed a specialty in breaking open large, complicated fraud schemes—his biggest case was a massive public corruption sting in the early 1980s that netted more than two hundred convictions, including two-thirds of all the sitting county commissioners in the state of Oklahoma.

So maybe it was inevitable that Elroy would be sucked into this investigation and would find himself standing in the middle of a cattle herd, staring at a lonely oil tank. The surveillance was part of a special detail—the FBI had loaned Elroy out as a special investigator for the US Senate. Although he had a new boss, the job was a familiar one. Elroy was collecting evidence for a sprawling, complex fraud case. Elroy’s new bosses in the Senate were increasingly convinced that the obscure company called Koch Oil was engaged in a conspiracy to steal millions of dollars’ worth of oil from local Indians—and possibly US taxpayers, too. Elroy’s job was to document whether the fraud was real. That’s why he had the 600-millimeter camera at the ready.

Soon enough, Elroy spotted his target: a lone truck was coming down a narrow road that led to the oil tank. As the truck approached, Elroy was well concealed behind a wall of cattle. He raised his camera and aimed it at the truck as it pulled alongside the oil tanker and a man got out.

Elroy then trained his telephoto lens on the Koch Oil man as he went about his work, down by the oil tank. The camera went in and out of focus. Blurry, then sharp. Then Elroy could see the Koch Oil man as if he were standing just feet away. His face, his clothing, his hands as he worked. Elroy focused in.

Snap. Snap. Snap.



Elroy’s photos were developed in a darkroom. The images were vague at first, but the picture clarified with each dip in a chemical bath, shapes and profiles refining and sharpening until the complete picture came into view. The Koch Oil man approaching the oil tank. Opening it. Measuring the oil within. Writing a receipt. The images were crisp and clear. Inarguable evidence. Over time, Elroy developed a stack of images like this, high-quality shots that allowed him to see the Koch Oil man perfectly. The 600-millimeter telephoto lens had done its job.

As clear as the photos were, Elroy did not plan to use them as evidence in court. They were going to be a tool for his investigation—a way to exploit human weakness.

Elroy learned how to investigate large conspiracies for the FBI during the 1980s. To break open a large conspiracy, you start at the edges. You find the most vulnerable link in the large chain of corruption, and you exploit it. That’s why Elroy decided to focus on the Koch Oil employees who actually emptied the oil tanks. These were the kind of people who were very quick to start talking when an FBI agent knocked on their door. They were the working stiffs; the most visible players in what Elroy was increasingly convinced was a complex conspiracy.

Elroy wasn’t the typical FBI man, with the stereotypical crew cut and shiny black shoes. When he graduated from the FBI Academy in Quantico, Virginia, in 1970, Elroy looked as much like a young corporate attorney as anything else, with a slightly shaggy mop of dark hair and a knowing smirk on his face. He knew American criminal code inside and out, was foulmouthed and well trained with a rifle. In spite of his irreverence, he was a law-and-order man through and through. He revered Director J. Edgar Hoover, whom he saw as a visionary leader rather than the bureaucratic despot that many historians judged him to be. When Elroy was told he’d be working for the US Senate, he wasn’t thrilled. As a rule, Elroy thought that Senate investigations were political theater. As an FBI man, he was accustomed to operating under strict legal rules about gathering evidence to ultimately prosecute a criminal case. The Senate investigations seemed lightweight compared to that: the senators only seemed to ever want enough evidence to support a public hearing in Washington so they could have a show. But Elroy’s bosses knew him well. They knew that when he was assigned to a case, he became borderline obsessed. And that is exactly what happened in the case of Koch Oil.

The Senate had gotten a tip that Koch Oil was stealing oil from Indian reservations throughout Oklahoma. These Indian lands were administrated by the federal government, so the Senate took a keen interest in the allegations. Elroy was told that the scheme was relatively simple: Koch Oil was an oil transportation company. The company would show up at the metal oil tanks, drain the oil, and then ship it to the market by truck or pipeline. But every time Koch drained the oil, it would intentionally underreport just how much it was taking. If Koch drained a hundred barrels, for example, it would say it had only gathered ninety-nine barrels. This meant that Koch was getting one barrel for free every time it bought oil.

While the alleged scheme was simple, it proved remarkably difficult to investigate. Koch Oil seemed to be built for the very purpose of avoiding outside scrutiny.

The company was owned by Koch Industries, a conglomerate based in Wichita. The company was family-owned and private. It seemed that nobody in either the Senate or the FBI had ever heard of the firm when they began investigating it in 1988. They mistook it for Coca-Cola, the soft drink maker in Atlanta, or they mispronounced the company name altogether in a way that rhymed with “watch” rather than the correct pronunciation, which rhymed with “smoke.” But for all its obscurity, it turned out that Koch Industries was a sprawling and vitally important company. Senate investigators learned that Koch Oil was the single largest purchaser of crude oil in the United States. Over the decades, it had quietly bought up tens of thousands of miles of pipelines and trucking services. As a result, when oil drillers like Exxon or Chevron wanted to ship their oil from remote wells in places like Oklahoma, Koch Oil was sometimes the only buyer for their product. It was the only way to get oil from the well to market. Millions of Americans used Koch’s products when they filled up their car’s gas tank, but no one seemed to even know the company’s name.

The only thing that was clear about Koch was that it harbored a deep antipathy toward the federal government and toward regulation in general. David Koch, one of the company’s primary owners and executives, had run for vice president on the national ticket for the Libertarian Party in 1980. Its platform had called for the abolishment of everything from the US Post Office to the Environmental Protection Agency to public schooling. The company itself had tangled with federal energy regulators for years over price control laws and other matters. Koch executives consistently argued that energy companies should operate in markets untrammeled by federal regulations. Koch Industries sat at the nexus of America’s energy supply, but for all its power and influence, Koch was a hidden giant. The company had somehow insinuated itself into nearly every corner of America’s energy infrastructure without ever revealing its position.

How, then, could Elroy hope to prove whether the company was stealing oil or not? He went after the employees who drained the oil tanks, known as “gaugers” in the business. The only benefit they could possibly get from mismeasuring oil was their paychecks. They lived in small towns, worked hard to support their families, and some of them probably didn’t even fully grasp what they were doing when they took the oil. They were just doing what their bosses told them to, Elroy suspected. Elroy visited their houses in the evenings. He pulled up at the houses with a partner, walked up to the front door, and knocked. When someone answered, Elroy identified himself as an FBI agent and asked if he could come in and talk. It was highly likely that these men had never met an FBI agent before. This gave Elroy the advantage: the Koch Oil men were confused, knocked off balance, wondering why in the world two men from the FBI were standing in their living room. He, on the other hand, was prepared with a list of specific questions and some evidence on hand to back up very serious allegations of theft.

Elroy sat down and began to run through his list of questions, asking the men about their daily jobs and the business of measuring oil. It must have been surreal for them, their minds racing, trying to figure out why the FBI was asking them about their relatively mundane days at work. Asking questions about wood-backed thermometers and oil gauges. The men must have wondered, Did I do something wrong? Am I in trouble?

An FBI agent is an expert at asking such questions in a way that leaves a witness to slowly ponder the terrible possibilities that might result from his answers. And then the agent, Elroy in this case, drops the terrible word that no one wants to hear: “Wouldn’t you consider this kind of mismeasurement to be stealing? Aren’t you basically getting oil without paying for it?”

To finish them off, Elroy brought out the photos taken with a telephoto lens. He could put the crystal-clear pictures on the table, and the men would look down at them and know that they had been made. Elroy could ask them, as quietly and innocently as possible, “Isn’t this you in this photo? Isn’t this you measuring the oil?” And then Elroy could tell them that, in fact, he had been there as well, and he had measured the same tank of oil right after the Koch Oil man had left, and, boy, was there a difference in the measurements! Significant differences. The Koch Oil man had some explaining to do.

In this way, Elroy rolled up several witnesses who began to describe what life was like at Koch Industries and how the company went about measuring the oil that it took. Each witness statement gave him more ammunition to use against the next witness. Soon he could start asking about specific meetings, specific managers, specific directives that were sent down from management.

Over the months, Elroy would interview more than fifteen employees. He granted many of them the promise of anonymity so that they could talk openly about their employer. As he gathered their stories, a picture began to emerge.

Koch managers never told their employees to go out and steal. It was never that obvious. Instead, the company put relentless pressure on the employees to meet certain standards. Koch managers made clear to the gaugers that they were never to be “short”—meaning they reported taking more oil from the tanks than they actually delivered to Koch—on too many tanks of oil. If a gauger was short week after week, he wouldn’t be working for Koch much longer. So the gaugers found ways to be perpetually “long.”I That meant they were consistently underreporting how much oil they drained from the tanks. They told the producer they were taking 100 barrels, and then they were delivering 101 barrels to Koch’s pipeline. As a result, the company ran a profitable surplus every year, collecting far more oil than it paid for, at least in the state of Oklahoma.

The Koch employees told Elroy that the need to be long on oil was constantly drilled home to them in something called “continuous improvement” meetings. These meetings seemed to be the way that employees got their marching orders from Koch headquarters in Wichita. Elroy soon became convinced that Koch Oil was “a corporate-directed criminal enterprise.”

What wasn’t clear to anyone in the government was just how far up the chain of command the control of this enterprise went. Who was putting the pressure on gaugers to “continuously improve”? Who was telling them to fudge the numbers when they measured how much oil they were taking?

Elroy sought to answer these questions as he roamed from living room to living room in rural Oklahoma. His efforts would bring Koch into direct confrontation with the federal government that the company so deeply disdained.



It was almost an accident that Koch Industries found itself the target of Elroy’s efforts. A strange and unlikely series of events put the company in the crosshairs of US Senate investigators to begin with, and that chain of events began on a quiet Sunday morning in Phoenix.

It was the morning of October 4, 1987. Early that day, newspaper boys rode their bikes through the neighborhoods of Phoenix and threw fat copies of the Arizona Republic Sunday edition onto lawns and driveways. The front page was plastered with an explosive story that carried the headline “Fraud in Indian Country: A Billion-Dollar Betrayal.”

The story was the first in a series that the Arizona Republic would publish over the next week. The series consisted of thirty stories covering several full newspaper pages, and it focused mostly on rampant corruption and incompetence at a federal agency called the Bureau of Indian Affairs, or BIA.

The front-page story on that first Sunday said that federal Indian programs were “a shambles, plagued by fraud, incompetence, and deceit and strangled by a morass of red tape that has all but destroyed their effectiveness.” And that was just the first sentence.

While the central target of the stories was the federal government, the bulk of the first day’s investigation focused on US oil companies that drilled on Indian lands. A headline across the front of the Sunday paper declared that the federal system allowing oil companies to drill on Indian reservations was really nothing more than a “license to loot.”

The looting happened in a complicated and insidious way. The Arizona Republic story showed that the oil companies themselves were responsible for reporting how much oil they drilled on the Indian reservations: the companies would drill wells, pump the oil, and then report to the government how much oil they had taken out of the ground. The government was not effectively double-checking the companies’ reports to verify how much oil they were actually getting from the Indian reservations. The whole thing worked on an honor system, and the Arizona Republic alleged that firms were abusing it by consistently underreporting how much oil they pumped out of the ground. The stories said that oil companies were carting off at least millions of dollars in free oil every year.

The Arizona Republic series garnered the kind of attention, and outrage, that most reporters can only dream of. In particular, the series captured the attention of Arizona’s Democratic US senator, Dennis DeConcini. He told reporters that the series was “devastating.” The stories, he said, “indicate criminality as well as mismanagement.”

There was something about the allegations that seemed to particularly bother DeConcini. Crime and bureaucratic mismanagement were always offensive, but it seemed especially offensive when the victims were Native Americans. DeConcini sat on a Senate committee that oversaw affairs on Indian reservations. He was intimately familiar with the fact that Native Americans in his home state were among the most beleaguered people in America. On paper, America’s Indian tribes were considered sovereign nations. By the late 1980s, those nations were really nothing more than a giant, failed Socialist state. After being hounded and dislocated and, finally, penned into reservations, the tribes signed treaties that left them with land and natural resources. However, the land was held in trust by the United States and administered by the BIA, so that, in short, the treaties made the federal government a paternalistic overlord of the supposedly sovereign tribes. It seemed that every aspect of life on Indian reservations was governed by the BIA, from health care to housing, education to oil drilling.

By the late 1980s, the results of this arrangement were truly ruinous. About 45 percent of all Indians lived below the poverty line, the unemployment rate was above 50 percent, and fewer than half of Indian households had a telephone. Most of the people lucky enough to have a job earned about $7,000 a year. Town squares were boarded up, and business was booming at liquor stores; some of the villages resembled shantytowns. This squalor was all the more offensive because a tidal wave of taxpayer money washed up on the shores of Indian reservations every year. The federal government spent about $3.3 billion a year to support the BIA and Indian programs. Strangely, the entire Native American population managed to earn less than $3.3 billion a year even when government assistance from Indian programs was factored in. The federal bureaucracy was sucking up cash while managing to infuriate the very Indians it was supposedly helping.

The Arizona Republic alleged that oil companies were exploiting this toxic system. Some of the world’s biggest oil drillers operated on the wide belt of federal land and reservations stretching across Oklahoma, Texas, Arizona, and surrounding states. These firms were making a killing amid all the dysfunction and poverty, collecting a steady stream of crude oil and piping it out to US and world markets. Rumors of oil theft had been circulating for years.

In Washington, the Senate Select Committee on Indian Affairs held a private meeting and voted to form a special investigative subcommittee that would look into the allegations. Senator DeConcini was selected to lead the subcommittee. He was joined by Arizona’s other senator, the Republican John McCain, and by Tom Daschle, the Democrat from South Dakota.

What resulted was one of the most far-reaching investigations of its kind. DeConcini and his counterparts decided to investigate major oil companies, the BIA, local Indian schools, and even the tribal authorities themselves. DeConcini knew that he would need a top-notch investigator to run the effort. He would need someone who could manage a large team of lawyers and field agents like Jim Elroy, and someone who could oversee a sprawling and complicated chain of evidence that would be developed.

Luckily for DeConcini, there was a young lawyer who had recently gone on the job market named Ken Ballen. Ballen was on the job market because he had been a lead investigator for the Iran-Contra hearings, a nationally watched investigation of covert US arms sales to Iran. When the investigation wrapped up, Ballen was looking for a new challenge. And he was about to get it.



In the spring of 1988, Ken Ballen walked down a tree-lined sidewalk near Capitol Hill, on the way to his new job. He walked past a strip of low-slung brick buildings that were built back in Washington, DC’s earliest days, when it was not much more than a sleepy little town that seemed to shut down when the legislature was not in session. Just across from these quaint buildings was the imposing nine-story structure where Ballen was headed, an edifice that evoked the new age of Washington and all of its power. This was the Hart Senate Office Building, where Ballen had just recently started work as the lead investigator for the Senate’s investigation into potential criminal conduct on Indian reservations.

The front of the Hart Building was a grid of rectangular, black windows, bordered by a façade of white marble. This was the face of the Senate bureaucracy. Ballen hustled into the main entrance of the Hart Building along with the usual crowd of Washington workers. While it is nondescript from the outside, the interior of the Hart Building is magnificent. It’s the kind of place that makes a person feel important, even powerful, just by the mere fact of working there every day. Even in the bathrooms, the partitions between urinals are made from slabs of white marble, giving every corner of the space a feeling of quiet authority.

Ballen certainly had considerable authority in his new position. He oversaw a large team of investigators who had recently been given full reign over the ninth floor of the Hart Building, the top story that contained a warren of cubicles and offices. He was just thirty-three years old in 1988 and not too long out of law school. But even at that young age, he had already played a major role in one of the biggest investigations in the US Senate. That’s how he caught the eye of Senator DeConcini. Ballen took the job when DeConcini offered it because he believed that the new subcommittee was dedicated to uncovering the truth and, just as importantly, because the Senate would be willing to give him the resources he needed. Ballen wasn’t disappointed on this front. As he entered the Hart Building and took an elevator to the ninth floor, he walked into an entire suite of offices that were now dedicated to his effort.

Early in the investigation, Ballen knew that he needed a lead investigator in the field, and the Senate turned to the FBI to find one. The request was sent to Oliver “Buck” Revell, who, at that time, was the FBI’s associate deputy director in charge of all investigative operations. When Revell got the request, he only had one agent in mind: Jim Elroy. Revell had worked with Elroy back when the two of them were based in Oklahoma, and he thought Elroy would be the perfect agent to head a complex and difficult investigation. “I think Jim’s the best investigator I ever ran into at the FBI. And I ran into thousands,” Revell said many years later.

Elroy agreed to take the assignment, and soon he and Ballen were talking back and forth about Elroy’s plans to lead the fieldwork out in Indian Country. One of the first items of business was dealing with the oil companies.



In the beginning, Ballen decided that his primary target would be the biggest oil companies—the majors, as they were called—such as Exxon and Mobil. The Arizona Republic articles insinuated that these firms were the prime offenders of oil theft. Ballen approached the companies with the same prosecutorial zeal he’d applied to witnesses of the Iran-Contra affair. He sent them a series of subpoenas demanding that they hand over documents that would otherwise be confidential and closely held; documents that showed exactly how the firms bought and sold the oil that was drilled on Indian reservations.

With his subpoenas, Ballen was able to breach the wall of corporate secrecy that reporters at the Arizona Republic could never penetrate. He used the full authority of the federal government to compel them to turn over the records that would show, in black and white, what they were doing.

Not surprisingly, the phone calls started coming in soon after. And the callers were not happy. Ballen began to get inquiries from the top lawyers for the oil companies; the highly paid Washington insiders who represented Exxon, Mobil, or Phillips. The attorneys told Ballen that the subpoenas were onerous and complying with them would require untold hours of labor and expense. Why was he casting such a wide net? What was he looking for? Ballen didn’t back off, and eventually the boxes of documents started arriving at the Hart Senate Office Building. Ballen’s team began digging through them and compiling numbers.

Ballen’s team did not find what it expected. The picture that developed, in fact, was downright shocking. It was also deflating. The companies, it turned out, were not stealing at all. Their own records proved it.

The large oil purchaser Kerr-McGee, for example, was actually taking away less oil than it paid for in the state of Oklahoma for the years 1986, 1987, and 1988. The company was short every year, to use the industry term. During that same period, Conoco was also short for one year, and the other two years, it was long, or over, by only a tiny margin. Conoco took 351 extra barrels in 1986 and 375 barrels in 1988. The overage was tiny, negligible. The same pattern held for Sun Oil.

It appeared that the Arizona Republic had gotten its facts wrong. But as his team was compiling the records, Ballen kept getting phone calls from top oil company lawyers. And they told him there was more to the story than he was seeing. They informed him, in confidence, what was really going on, and their admissions would never be made public over the ensuing years.

“Everyone operating on Indian territory told us one thing and one thing only: ‘We’re not stealing oil, but we’ll tell you who is: Koch Industries,’ ” Ballen recalled. “And they all told me that Koch was taking one to three percent. And I said, ‘Why don’t you do something about it?’ And first of all, they said, ‘It’s just more trouble than it’s worth to fight with them.’ ”

The oil companies also pointed out another compelling reason: Koch Industries had too much market power to be trifled with. It was risky to make the company mad. The oil wells in question were hardly the best wells. They were scattered across the countryside and were hardly gushers. The wells barely broke even for the producers, and Koch Oil was the only firm willing to take the oil and ship it, and the producers like Exxon and Mobil didn’t want to aggravate Koch Oil more than they had to.

And the oil companies said something else. If Ballen’s team was willing to look into the matter, he could count on the oil majors for help. This was a highly unlikely alliance. Oil companies held a unique role in the American economy in 1988 and that role made them politically toxic. They were both a villain and an indispensable part of life. Everybody depended on the oil companies, but nobody seemed to like them. This wasn’t a new thing—one of the first major US oil companies was also one of America’s most hated firms. The Standard Oil Company was operated by John D. Rockefeller, the most famous of the robber barons of the late 1800s. Rockefeller amassed a fortune by cleverly using a network of secret “trusts,” or shell companies, to build an unrivaled monopoly in the oil business. Rockefeller controlled supplies, put competitors out of business, and cut secret sweetheart deals with railroads. His business became the poster child for the “antitrust” movement, which was aimed squarely at breaking up the kind of opaque and powerful business enterprises that he’d spent his life creating. The government eventually split Standard Oil into multiple competing firms.

But all the bad blood over Rockefeller seemed to have dissipated by the 1960s. At that time, the United States was the nation of the oil gusher. America was the biggest oil producer and seemed to have a limitless supply of the geological treasure. Oil was the primary energy source of America’s industrial economy, and it became the raw material of its economic growth. Dark crude oil was an embodiment of America’s special place in the world and its unrivaled economic supremacy. During this era, the United States developed a deep dependency on its oil companies. The well-being of the economy itself and the price of oil became intertwined. Ten of the eleven recessions after World War II were preceded by a spike in oil prices. This dependence, predictably, created deep resentments. Public sentiment turned against the oil industry decisively in the 1970s, but this time it wasn’t necessarily the fault of a robber baron like Rockefeller.

This time the villain was the public demand itself, coupled with an unprecedented exercise of power by oil-producing nations in the Persian Gulf. Demand for oil in the United States had quietly surpassed the level of available supplies, leaving the nation reliant on imports to make up the difference. In 1973, a cartel called the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries, or OPEC, imposed an embargo that unleashed unprecedented chaos in oil markets. By the time the whole mess had settled in 1974, oil prices had risen from $3 a barrel to $12 a barrel.

Oil prices would fall again during the 1980s, but the psychological wound never healed. Americans knew that their economy was now held hostage by oil. The stability of the 1950s and 1960s was gone. Oil prices could spike overnight, a concept that no one had ever really thought of before. The concept of oil price spikes would soon become embedded in Americans’ vocabulary, and with it a new way of seeing oil companies. These firms were now seen as predatory. The well-being of oil companies and the American people were at odds by 1988. Oil companies embodied the opposite ideal of the old maxim, which claimed that “what was good for our country was good for General Motors, and vice versa.” Instead, what was good for oil companies came at the expense of everyone else.

Most people suspected that the oil companies were screwing them in one way or another, so it only made sense that oil companies would be the central target of Ken Ballen’s investigation. This was a message that was delivered to Ballen in no uncertain terms by Senator Daniel Inouye of Hawaii, who was chairman of the Senate Indian Affairs Committee and a friend of Senator DeConcini’s. As chairman of the committee, Inouye had authority over the special investigative team that DeConcini had put together. Inouye therefore had some measure of authority over Ballen, and he made it clear to Ballen that the investigation was meant to uncover wrongdoing on behalf of the oil majors like Exxon or Mobil. Instead, Ballen found himself working with the oil majors in order to entrap Koch Industries, which no one had ever heard of. It was a politically risky move, in Ballen’s eyes, but that’s where the evidence in the case was leading him.

Ballen’s case grew stronger after he took a trip to Boston. He’d received a tip that there was a whistle-blower in Boston who might be able to shed light on Koch Oil’s alleged theft. The whistle-blower was in a good position to know about it. His name was William “Bill” Koch, and he was brothers with Koch Industries’ CEO.

Ballen learned that Koch Industries was a family-controlled company, founded in 1940 by a man named Fred Koch in Wichita, Kansas. Fred Koch had four sons. Three of the sons worked for the family company until 1967, when Fred Koch died. At that point, all hell broke loose. The second-oldest son, Charles, was left in charge of the firm. In that role, he oversaw his younger twin brothers, David and Bill. It became clear that Bill didn’t want to take orders from his older brother Charles, and so Bill left the company in 1983. Then he sued David and Charles, claiming that they had ripped him off by underpaying him for his share of the family business.

What interested Ballen was what Bill did next. Bill launched a private investigation into the very behavior that Ballen had stumbled upon: Koch Oil’s alleged theft of oil from remote wells. After arriving in Boston, Ballen met with Bill Koch for two hours in a conference room. He listened carefully while Bill Koch laid out detailed allegations that matched what the oil majors were already saying: Koch Oil practiced widespread theft, Bill Koch confirmed. He should know, because it was happening while he worked there.

The story was convincing, but it also made Ballen uneasy. Bill Koch’s testimony was tainted by the fact that he was suing his brothers. For that reason, he would not make a great witness at a public hearing, or in a courtroom.

Ballen went back to Washington and met with his team. He told them that there was only one path to follow: they would subpoena Koch Oil just as they had subpoenaed the other oil companies. And they wouldn’t proceed unless the company’s documents compelled them to.

Then Koch’s documents began to arrive. The parcels of internal company papers were hauled up to the ninth floor and opened by Ballen’s team, who began to tabulate them.



Ballen’s team narrowed its subpoenas to examine oil sales in the state of Oklahoma. This made it easier for the companies to comply with the request and made it easier for Ballen’s investigators to sift through the documents once they arrived. The financial results from Koch’s records were stark. They were so stark it seemed unbelievable. The numbers were checked, and checked again. And even then, they told the same story: In 1988, Koch Oil had taken 142,000 barrels of oil without paying for them and cleared pure profit on each of those barrels when it sold them. In 1986 and 1987, the other years that Ballen’s team investigated, Koch was over by 240,680 and 239,206 barrels, respectively. The second-highest overage of any other company in those years was the Phillips Petroleum Company’s overage of 2,181 barrels in 1987, still just 0.009 percent of Koch’s overage that year.

The set of numbers was the only clear thing that the Senate team could determine about Koch. As investigators dug further into the company, they discovered an organization that seemed built to obscure its very existence. There was a reason that no one had heard of Koch Oil, even though the company operated huge pipeline networks and two major oil refineries (one in Corpus Christi, Texas, and the other just outside of Minneapolis, Minnesota).

To begin with, Koch made the rare decision to remain privately owned rather than selling shares of the company on the stock market. Most firms go public after they reach a certain size because doing so gives them access to an almost limitless amount of money they can use to expand and fund their operations. The downside of this decision is that when a company goes public, it is required to disclose a lot of information to the public, so that investors know what they are buying. Publicly traded firms need to publish the salaries of their CEOs, the value of their debt, the amount of money they make or lose every quarter, and any risks that might be in store for investors who bought their stock. Koch had apparently decided that getting money from Wall Street wasn’t worth the headache of making such information public.

Even more confusingly, the firm was an intricate web of interlocking subsidiaries and divisions. Its pipeline unit, for example, had done business under different names over the years, such as Matador, without using the name of its parent company. Without the kind of public filings that most companies released to public investors, it was difficult for Ballen’s investigators to even puzzle out exactly what Koch owned and where. And Koch clearly made no effort to build its brand. The company didn’t even put a sign on some of the buildings where it operated, let alone invest in advertising to build a good reputation with customers. Koch clearly preferred being a dark box.

Koch was a difficult target to go after, but Ballen was convinced that the evidence was persuasive enough to warrant the effort. Ballen worked with FBI agent Jim Elroy to draw up a plan to build the case against Koch Oil. They came up with an audacious idea: Elroy and a team of experienced oil workers would arrive at oil tanks before Koch Oil employees were scheduled to get there, and Elroy’s team would measure how much oil was in the tanks. Then they would lay in wait until the Koch Oil man arrived and drained the tank. The Koch Oil employee would leave a document behind, called a run ticket, that stated how much oil Koch had carted off. If the firm was really taking as much oil as it appeared to be, the run tickets should show a smaller amount of oil than Elroy and his team had measured. That’s how Elroy ended up surrounded by cattle, secretly photographing the Koch Oil gaugers.

But there were two big obstacles to making this plan work. The first was the fact that the oil tanks were all located on private property—property owned by oil drillers like Exxon and Mobil. Elroy couldn’t just trespass on the land to take oil measurements. The second obstacle was figuring out when Koch Oil was due to arrive and drain the tanks. It would be cost prohibitive to have Elroy stake out the company around the clock for weeks at a time.

Ballen turned to the oil majors for help. While none were willing to attack Koch publicly for taking oil from them, they were more than happy to help Ballen behind the scenes. Their assistance was never publicly disclosed, even as videotape of the surveillance was shown publicly during a later Senate hearing. The companies gave Elroy permission to enter their property and to measure their oil. They also told Ballen’s team when the Koch Oil truck was scheduled to arrive, so that Elroy could be there to observe it.

With the secret help of the oil majors, Ballen and Elroy were ready to build the case against Koch. They had copius amounts of documentation and photographic evidence. They had the testimony of Koch’s own oil gaugers, whom Elroy had interviewed.

But Ballen knew that they needed more. So the Senate issued subpoenas to senior Koch Industries executives in Wichita—subpoenas that would compel the men to answer questions under oath. Then Ballen bought a plane ticket to Wichita. There he would question one of the men he had just subpoenaed. It was the man who had ultimate control over this enterprise: the chief executive, Charles Koch.



It is almost awe-inspiring to fly into the Wichita airport. During the daytime hours, airplane passengers can look out the window and see the Kansas prairie stretching away toward the horizon like an impossibly long tabletop covered in green. Wichita itself seems minuscule and stranded within this wide expanse, a small jewel of white buildings surrounded by residential neighborhoods and factories. Outside the city limits, the emptiness looked like the far edge of America.

Ken Ballen arrived in Wichita with his assistant attorney, Wick Sollers, in late April of 1989. They had a grueling schedule ahead of them.

On April 24, the two Washington attorneys drove to Koch Industries headquarters. They were scheduled to depose, or interview under oath, eleven of the company’s senior executives and employees. As they drove to the headquarters, Ballen and Sollers might have thought they’d been given wrong directions. One of the largest and most profitable companies in Wichita wasn’t located in a skyscraper downtown. Instead, Ballen and Sollers kept heading east on Thirty-Seventh Street, away from the city center, until they reached the far northeastern corner of Wichita’s city limits. On the north side of Thirty-Seventh, the city ended and gave way to a limitless horizon of tall prairie grass. On the south side of the street was their destination: a squat office building of steel and glass with darkened windows.

They arrived early in the morning. Their first deposition would take place just after nine o’clock, and it was arguably their most important: they would start the day by interviewing Charles Koch.

Lower-level investigators like Jim Elroy became convinced that Charles Koch must have been aware that his firm was taking far more oil than it paid for from oil wells throughout the Midwest. It seemed that the behavior was so widespread that it must have been directed from the top. It was almost inconceivable that Koch would not be aware of it. Now Ballen would have the chance to question Charles Koch directly.

But first, they had to get into the building. This turned out to be no easy task. Ballen and Sollers were stopped at a security checkpoint, where security guards asked them to show their identification. They passed through a metal detector. Then they walked down a hallway into the center of the building and came to yet another security checkpoint. They showed their identification for a second time and once again passed through a metal detector. They walked down yet more hallways, twisting and turning through the labyrinthine interior of the building. Then another security checkpoint. It seemed to Ballen that they went through concentric rings of security as they progressed deeper and deeper into the complex. The setup reminded him of traveling to CIA headquarters in Langley, Virginia.

Eventually, Ballen and Sollers were led into a windowless conference room. They sat down at a table and were joined by four attorneys representing Koch Industries. Two of the attorneys were from Washington, and the other two were in-house Koch lawyers based in Wichita. The contingent of attorneys was clearly led by Don Cordes, a vice president at Koch Industries and the company’s top lawyer.

When Charles Koch entered the room, it became clear almost instantly that this man was the master of this domain. The people around him treated Charles Koch with deference—a deference that seemed to go deeper than simple respect for a boss. Sollers and Ballen had no way of knowing that Charles was not, in fact, just the boss of the company. He was its leader. Charles Koch did not order people around him to do what he said. He inspired them to do so. He had a command of the people around him that was difficult for outsiders to understand. Visitors like Ballen and Sollers couldn’t have known that Charles Koch had spent decades building up the loyalty and admiration of the people who worked for him. They didn’t know about his management seminars, the classes and lectures that he held to impart his philosophy.

But what they could see clearly was that Charles Koch’s authority was complete. He was trim and, at fifty-three, still had an athletic build. He had thick blond hair, a square jaw, and bright blue eyes. He sat down at the table across from Ballen and Sollers and he looked at the two of them, these Washington lawyers. Whatever he might have thought about them, it was impossible to say. But it was clear that he was not intimidated.

“Could you please state your full name for the record?” Ballen began.

“Charles de Ganahl Koch.”

“Sir, what is your position with Koch Industries?” Ballen asked.

“I am chairman and chief executive,” Koch replied.

Chairman and chief executive. This was much more than a job title. It was a statement that there was no higher authority within Koch Industries than Charles Koch. And this authority was greater than most CEOs’ because Koch Industries was privately held. Charles Koch and his brother David were the primary shareholders; they’d bought out any shareholders who might have challenged them. Many people could criticize Charles Koch, but it was difficult to see how anyone could actually fire him. As long as his brother David agreed with him, Charles Koch had total command over the enterprise.

Ballen didn’t treat Koch with deference; he certainly wasn’t inspired by Koch. There might have even been a note of disdain in his voice. As Ballen had done in many depositions and many interviews before, he began to bore in with a list of questions.

“Sir, what were the company’s overall sales in 1988?” Ballen asked.

“I think about ten billion dollars.”

“What was the net profit figure for the company last year?”

“It was about four hundred million.”

Ballen could not have known exactly how offensive those simple questions were to Charles Koch. The CEO prized his privacy and his ability to keep Koch’s financial performance concealed behind a wall of secrecy. It was privileged information to know what Koch’s annual revenue was. The level of profits was considered top secret. And here was this lawyer, stomping all over Koch’s secrets with total disregard.

“What percentage of the business involves crude oil—crude oil purchases?” Ballen continued.

“Percent in what sense?” Koch shot back.

Percent in what sense? Ballen gamely tried to define the word percent, and the sense in which he meant it.

“Of sales and profit, approximately,” Ballen said.

“I would guess about ten percent of the profit and—this is a guess again—about twenty percent of sales,” Koch replied.

Ballen gave Charles Koch a set of documents—the same documents that had shocked Ballen’s investigators in Washington. These were Koch’s own internal figures showing that Koch had taken far more oil than it paid for from oil wells. Ballen would see how Charles Koch responded to these documents. Charles Koch might say that the documents were forgeries, or that they did not actually show what they appeared to show. But Charles Koch said none of those things as he looked over the figures.

“Have you ever seen any of these documents?” Ballen asked.

“Yes, I typically see the quarterly—”

“All right,” Ballen interrupted.

“—figures,” Koch finished.

Charles Koch said he didn’t review monthly figures that showed whether the firm was long or short on the oil it bought. But he didn’t dispute the authenticity of the numbers.

Ballen pushed further. Referring to one of the documents, he asked, “And then what is indicated in the first quarter ’86? What do those numbers show?”

“Well, Louisiana was about two thousand barrels long.”

“And that would be long?”

“That would be long.”

For a prosecuting attorney like Ballen, Charles Koch had just done two important things: he had confirmed that Ballen’s evidence was authentic—that the numbers on oil sales Ballen obtained through the subpoena were correct—and Koch had also confirmed that he had been aware of those numbers, that he had known that Koch was long on its oil sales.

Ballen’s line of questioning then sought to establish that Charles Koch knew what long really meant. That way, there would be no ambiguity about the case. Charles Koch didn’t seem interested, however, in helping Ballen establish that fact. Charles Koch parsed the definition of long and seemed to indicate that Ballen didn’t understand it. The two men went back and forth over the definition until Ballen finally asked, “So, in other words, if you purchase oil and then sell oil, if there is more oil in the inventory than sold, then you are long. Is that correct?”

“I am not sure—”

“Is that correct?”

“I am not sure I understood that.”

“All right. Why don’t you explain it again? What do you mean by being ‘over,’ or ‘long,’ on oil?”

“I am not sure I can do any better than I just did,” Koch replied.

Around they went.

Ballen tried a different route: “If Koch purchases crude oil, purchases a hundred barrels, the actual inventory shows a hundred ten barrels, would Koch be over in that example by ten barrels?” Ballen asked.

“Did we sell any?”

“Well, why don’t you try the question first,” Ballen said. “Is that an accurate—”

“Well, it is an incomplete equation. I mean it is—there is no answer. You got two unknowns.”

“Suppose you sold a hundred ten,” Ballen pressed.

“Okay. You bought—”

“One hundred.”

“And you sold a hundred ten?”

“Right.”

“I am going to need my slide rule in a minute,” Koch joked.

It went on like this for a long time, with the two men discussing barrels of oil, inventory levels, and even hypothetical inventory levels. The other attorneys in the room begin to interject and add their own observations and questions about hypothetical inventories.

Finally, Ballen’s assistant, Wick Sollers, dove in and started asking questions. Eventually, he pushed Charles Koch into a corner, eliciting a very elegant description of just what it means to be long.

“I don’t think there is such a thing as an exactly accurate measurement,” Charles Koch said. “But if you just look in dollar terms, yes, we got more money than we paid for oil.”

There it was: “We got more money than we paid for oil,” Koch had said.

But there was something else in his statement; the idea that there was no such thing as a perfectly accurate measurement. Earlier in the interview, Charles Koch had interrupted Ballen to press this point and to make it sound as if unsophisticated oil gaugers were making mistakes out in the field that might account for the company’s annual overages.

“I mean, in the oil field, as I understand it, it is—you got a lot of small tanks, you got a lot of changing conditions, and it is a very uncertain art,” Charles Koch had said. “And you have people who aren’t rocket scientists, necessarily,” he continued. “I mean, good people. I don’t mean to imply—good people, trying to do a good job, and they are always not fully trained, either.”

This defense contradicted everything that Agent Elroy had been hearing in his field interviews with the Koch gaugers. Those gaugers told him that they faced constant pressure from above to be “long.” They knew that if they were not long, then the consequences would be dire. They weren’t making mistakes, the gaugers said; they were following orders. And these orders were apparently conveyed in meetings where Koch managers discussed the company’s policy of continuous improvement. It was on this point that Ballen began to press.

Just what was continuous improvement, exactly? Ballen asked.

“How much time do you have?” Koch replied.

“How much time do you have?” Ballen replied.

“Continuous improvement philosophy is a philosophy developed by a man called J. Edward Deming, who is a statistician,” Koch said.II “So he set up a philosophy based on statistics, how companies can improve their competitive position by improving the quality for the customer and your own productivity.”

Koch went on for a long time, talking about this guy named Deming, whom Koch seemed to truly admire. Deming’s ideas seemed to revolve around coming up with mathematical models for how to improve a business, and then continually driving workers to make those improvements and hold true to the plan.

“This is a long-term program,” Koch said. “As [Deming] puts it: ‘You never get out of this hospital.’ You are going to be working at this forever.”

The digressions about Deming and statistics didn’t matter much to the case that Ballen was building. Charles Koch had already laid out what continuous improvement might mean for gaugers.

“What our policy is, is to be as accurate as possible and not have a loss; try to avoid losses within that,” Koch had said. He denied that the company had a stated policy of stealing oil, but he supported the notion that gaugers would face pressure to be long.

When the interview was over, Charles Koch stood up and left the room, walking down the corridor. He eventually went back to the company’s executive suite and his office, a large room with a wide-open view of the Kansas prairie.

Ballen kept working through the day in the building’s interior. He and Sollers interviewed nearly a dozen more Koch Industries executives, slowly building a case that the investigators would soon present before the Senate, slowly gathering evidence that they would hand over to the US Department of Justice.

At the end of the long day, Ballen and Sollers packed up their papers and left. They caught a flight back to Washington and continued their work up on the ninth floor of the Hart Senate Office Building.

But even after all the time they’d spent at Koch headquarters, even after all the time they’d spent digging through boxes of Koch Industries’ confidential documents, and even after all the time they’d spent interviewing Charles Koch himself, Ken Ballen and Wick Sollers were no closer to answering one of the most perplexing questions at the center of their case. It was a question that would be asked later, by Senator DeConcini himself, as the Senate panel held public hearings on Koch’s alleged oil theft.

At one point during the hearings, DeConcini was questioning Agent Elroy. DeConcini stopped, as if perplexed, and asked the FBI man the most important question of them all:

“Who is Charles Koch? Can you explain that?”



I. Some gaugers and Koch managers used an interchangeable set of terms, saying “under” rather than “short,” and “over” rather than “long.”

II. Charles Koch appears to have misspoken here. The statistician’s name is W. Edwards Deming, and his influence on Koch Industries is discussed at length in Chapter 6.



CHAPTER 2




The Age of Volatility Begins

(1967–1972)

It was a Friday in mid-November, just one week before Thanksgiving 1967. A multimillionaire named Fred Koch sat in a duck blind watching the sky, his gun at the ready.

Fred Koch was a large man, and he had a forceful personality to match his physical presence. He was one of those people whom midwesterners call “larger than life,” meaning that he filled a room when he entered it; one of those very rare breed of people who are unquestionably the masters of their own realm. He was an engineer, an entrepreneur, and a self-described patriot. At the age of sixty-seven, Fred Koch had built a small business empire, and as the master of this empire, Koch was the hub of so many spinning wheels: He was chairman of the board for his growing company. He was a cofounder of a right-wing political group called the John Birch Society. He was a self-published author who sold anti-Communist pamphlets through the mail for 25 cents a copy. He was also the father of four rowdy and brilliant boys, boys in whom he’d worked to instill the values that mattered most to him: intelligence, a hard work ethic, integrity, and drive.

If Fred Koch’s life was a noisy one, then the duck blind where he sat that Friday in November was pristinely silent. Maybe that’s why he traveled to the place, which was about a thousand miles from his home in Wichita. The duck blind was near the Bear River, just outside the small town of Ogden, Utah. The natural beauty of the place was overwhelming. When visitors turned and faced east, they saw a craggy wall of mountains rise up, the sharp and irregular peaks often painted white with snow. Turning to the west, a visitor could see where the land immediately flattened out into a hard plateau of ranchland and salt marshes. The Great Salt Lake was nearby, and the glittering marshes around it lured flocks of migrating ducks as they made their way south from Yellowstone Park and the forests of Idaho.

The ranchlands spoke to Fred Koch in a special way. He owned thousands of acres of pasture, land that he would pass on to his sons and that they would keep for decades, knowing how much it meant to their dad. A ranch was an unfettered place; a place of freedom. It was also a place of ceaseless work; a place where any enterprise, whether it be a family or a business, survived or failed based solely on the work ethic and competence of the people who ran it. Ranching was honest, and it happened in the most wide-open and most free countryside in America. Maybe Fred Koch went to Bear River to think—to make plans for his business and his life in a place where he could enjoy a little silence. His business empire was a complicated set of interlocking companies. He oversaw an oil refinery, oil pipelines, manufacturing plants, and, of course, his beloved ranches. Bear River would have been a good place to escape it all, to consider it from a distance. It was the kind of place where a man could think, where he could compose a game plan to enact when he went back home. Considering Fred Koch’s life, it seems highly likely that he was considering those things as he scanned the horizon, waiting for the V-shaped flocks of ducks to come into view and start circling, looking for a place to land.

Fred Koch sat in the duck blind with a field guide who helped him handle his weapon and other provisions. According to Koch family lore, Fred Koch aimed his weapon at the sky, took a shot, and then marveled at his marksmanship when a duck came wheeling down.

Then, Fred Koch slumped over. He was unconscious, and he was very far from the nearest hospital. The gun loader must have tried to figure out what to do, but there was nothing to be done. Fred Koch died there at the foot of the mountain range, overlooking the salt marshes and ranchland.

Whatever plans he might have been considering disappeared with him in that instant. His company and his family would never hear another word of guidance from him. It would be entirely up to them to figure out how to go forward.

In one moment, the great patriarch was gone.

Fred Koch’s sudden death was not the end of a story, but the beginning of one. It was the first surge of volatility in an era that would be defined by volatility for Fred Koch’s family. It was only the first time that stability would disappear in an instant and leave everyone scrambling to figure out what to do. And these waves of volatility would crash primarily onto the shoulders of one person. One person, more than anyone, would have to figure out how to negotiate this era and, ultimately, how to profit from it. That person was Fred Koch’s second-oldest son, Charles.



One of Charles Koch’s earliest memories is of sitting in a public school classroom in Wichita, watching the teacher write math problems on the chalkboard. He was in the third grade. He would always remember how the other students were asking questions, and how the teacher kept trying to explain to them the mechanical interactions between the big white numerals and symbols.

This was puzzling to Charles Koch. He didn’t understand why the other children should be confused. “I can remember that clearly. Most things back then, I can’t remember at all. But I remember that clearly,” he later said in an interview. “All the other kids, or most of them, were struggling. . . . Why? I asked myself,” he recalled, and then he laughed. “The answers are obvious!”

This was when he realized that he had a gift for math and the mind of an engineer. He could clearly see a set of rules, the language of numbers. And this was a set of rules that existed perfectly within its own realm, whether people understood it or not. Math didn’t change just because a person struggled with it. Math was perfect. And Charles Koch understood it.



Charles Koch was not completely surprised when his father died. Fred Koch had been ailing for many years. The end was sudden, but not unexpected.

When that terrible moment came, Charles Koch had a plan. He had been constructing this plan for years.

During the summers of his childhood, Charles Koch’s family belonged to the Wichita Country Club. There was the pool and the clubhouse and the Elysian green hills of the golf course, all of it contained in a tiny oasis hidden away from the rest of the city. The Koch family’s house was close enough to the country club that the Koch boys, when they were teenagers, could hear kids playing at the pool during the long summer days. This was a place where the rich kids in town whiled away their summers and charged meals to their parents’ accounts. In the evenings, a teenaged Charles Koch would have been able to sneak liquor with friends at the clubhouse or organize card games in private rooms where the walls were paneled with tasteful, burnished hardwood.

But Charles Koch was denied that kind of summer while he was growing up. It was understood that he would stay away from the country club, as close as it might be to his backyard. Fred Koch felt that too much leisure time would corrupt the boy’s character. So he sent Charles out west to the ranch country that Fred loved so much. As a teenager, Charles Koch learned to ride horses, which might sound nice, or even romantic. But it wasn’t. For Charles Koch, learning to ride a horse was more like learning how to drive a forklift. His job was to ride on horseback for monotonous hours on end, inspecting the fence lines that kept the cattle from wandering off into the wilderness. At night, during those summers, he slept in a log cabin with other ranch hands, who had names like “Bitterroot Bob”—men who had likely never set foot in a country club.

This was the rhythm of Charles’s childhood. Work, and school, and back to work again. It was the rhythm prescribed by his father. And Charles Koch rebelled against it. He got into trouble as a teenager and was sent to a military-style prep school in Indiana. He didn’t straighten out until he graduated high school, when he enrolled at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, receiving an engineering degree in 1957, just as his father had done before him.

But even then, Charles Koch rebelled. He wasn’t satisfied to follow in his dad’s footsteps. He didn’t return to Wichita but stayed out east in Boston and got a job on his own. Fred implored Charles to come home and join the family business. The business was a complicated thing, and Fred wanted a capable son who could help him run it. The business units included Rock Island Oil and Refining Co., which held a refinery and pipelines; the Matador Cattle Company, which ran the vast expanses of ranchland; and Koch Engineering Co., which made specialized equipment for the oil refineries and chemical plants. Fred Koch wanted to pass this group of companies on to someone who could manage it well, and he made it clear that Charles was the person for the job.

But Charles resisted. He was happy making his way in the wider world. Fred Koch had been a domineering father, a forceful personality who had an unmovable set of beliefs about how the world worked and how a man should conduct himself. Charles had carved out his own life in Boston, getting a job as a management consultant with the prestigious firm Arthur D. Little. He knew that if he went back home, he’d be living in his father’s shadow, always subject to his father’s authority.

“I thought, My God, I go back, he won’t let me do anything, and he’ll smother me,” Charles Koch recalled decades later in an interview with the Wichita Eagle.

When Fred Koch was unable to persuade his son to return home, he resorted to guilt. He told his son that unless Charles returned to run the firm, Fred would sell it. The patriarch knew that his health wouldn’t last forever, and if Charles didn’t want the company, then someone else would.

Out of a sense of guilt, or obligation, or simple duty, Charles Koch finally relented. In 1961, he came back home to join his father’s company. Over the years, Fred Koch gave Charles increasing authority. Charles had originally been hired within the Koch Engineering division, and eventually Fred Koch gave up his job as president of that division and handed over the title to Charles. In 1966, Fred Koch did the same thing with the much larger division of Rock Island Oil and Refining Co., which was the main pillar of the family’s fortune, making Charles president. But Fred kept his authority over Charles by remaining chairman of the board.

On Monday, November 20, 1967, Charles Koch attended his father’s funeral. The services were held at the Downing East Mortuary, and Fred’s remains were cremated. When prominent members of the Wichita business community dropped by to pay their respects, they tried to console the large family that Fred Koch had left behind. Most prominent in the crowd, of course, was Fred Koch’s elegant widow, Mary Koch, a poised and beautiful woman who was known throughout Wichita as an energetic supporter of the arts.

And then there were the couple’s children, the four boys. As they stood shoulder to shoulder, the Koch boys were an impressive sight. They were very tall, all of them, standing well above six feet. The Koch boys lived their lives looking downward during most conversations. And they were handsome on top of it, with slender, muscular frames and square jaws inherited from their father. It might have seemed natural that Frederick Koch, the firstborn, would be heir apparent to his father’s company. But Frederick, or Freddie, as everybody knew him, never had a strong interest in the family business—or any commercial business, for that matter. He was interested in art, and he studied drama in college rather than engineering. Freddie drew himself away from the orbit of the family company very early on in his life. When Fred Koch died, Freddie was teaching acting classes and producing plays in New York City.

After Freddie came Charles, who adopted the role of surrogate firstborn.

Then there were the youngest Koch boys, a set of fraternal twins named David and William. Both twins, like their dad and Charles, attended MIT. When their father died, David had graduated and was working as a chemical engineer in New York. He was not just tall, but also possessed the muscular physique of a star athlete. He’d played basketball at MIT and was captain of the team. During his tenure on the team, Koch averaged twenty-one points and twelve rebounds per game, allowing him to graduate as the school’s top-scoring player. He set the record for most points scored during a single game, at forty-one, a record that wouldn’t be broken for forty-six years. His twin, Bill, was also on the team, but he didn’t have David’s talents. Bill, who was slightly shorter, spent more time on the bench. When their father died, Bill was still studying at MIT, working on his PhD.

Charles was the only son working at his father’s company at that time. As he stood there, at Fred Koch’s funeral, he was standing alone in a very significant way. Their father’s business empire—everything that Fred Koch had built during his life—all of it was suddenly left to Charles to manage. He was thirty-two years old.



It’s a truism of family business. The second generation of a successful family company is destined to ruin everything. Charles Koch was painfully aware of this stigma and wanted to prove that he was a builder. When he was left alone to run the company, he arrived early every day at the office, stayed late, and worked over the weekends. It was not uncommon for Koch to call employees on a Sunday afternoon, asking them to come down to the office for a meeting.

And he didn’t just work hard. He worked with an intense purpose. Even in early 1968, just a few months after his father died, it was clear that Charles Koch had a stunningly ambitious vision for the company he and his brothers just inherited. He also had a strategy for how to get there. He wasted no time in carrying out a plan of his own, a plan that would fundamentally reshape everything that Fred Koch had built during his lifetime.

The first pillar of the plan to fall into place was organizational. Almost immediately, Charles Koch set about restructuring the interlocking group of companies that Fred Koch had left behind. The confusing amalgam of corporate entities—the engineering company, the oil gathering business, the pipelines, the ranches—would soon be welded into a single entity.

The second pillar of Charles Koch’s plan was physical: the company would be based in a new office complex. Before Fred Koch died, the company had offices in a downtown building that was named after him. But by a stroke of coincidence, that building was scheduled to be demolished just when Fred died, torn down in order to make way for an urban renewal project. In its place, Charles Koch oversaw the construction of new headquarters, this one on the far-northeast corner of town. The new complex included an office building and a midsize factory floor where the company would make oil refinery equipment and other products. This is where Charles Koch would start to build a new company. Over the next forty years, the office complex would expand. Parking lots would be made where the prairie grass stood in 1967, a corporate tower would be added alongside the low-slung office complex just north of the factory. The complex, located on a remote stretch of Thirty-Seventh Street, was the blank slate on which Charles Koch would draw his plans and execute his vision.

The third pillar was personal. Charles Koch surrounded himself with the smartest people in the company that his father left behind, and the people that Charles Koch could trust. The most important of these people was a man named Sterling Varner.

Varner was a tall man, like Fred Koch, and, also like Fred Koch, he had the giant personality to match his imposing physical presence. When Varner walked through the hallways of the new Koch offices, he was known to stop and talk with employees of every rank. He was a backslapper and a shoulder squeezer. He remembered everyone’s name and always took a moment to ask how he or she was doing. He was the kind of boss who made an employee feel important, no matter their rank. “Some people get sought out—you just want to be with them and be around them. And that’s just the way Sterling was,” recalled Roger Williams, who worked alongside Varner at Koch for many years.

Varner was born into a poor family, and famously told stories of life growing up in the Texas and Oklahoma oil patches, working as a roughneck on the drilling rigs and sleeping in tents. A Koch employee named Doyle Barnett recalled one moment when Varner was driving through rural Oklahoma and saw a vagrant by the side of the road. Varner declared, “But for the grace of God, there goes I.”

Charles Koch relied on Sterling Varner from the very beginning of his time at the head of the company, and not just for counsel. Varner provided a measure of warmth and personal charisma that Charles Koch simply lacked. Charles Koch was not imperious—he didn’t demean the people who worked for him. But he didn’t have the common touch. Charles Koch was quiet, almost awkward. But he seemed to recognize this shortcoming, and he kept Varner close.

While Charles Koch relied on people like Varner to help him as he laid the foundations of his new company, Koch did some of the most important work on his own. Charles Koch was intently focused on what made people tick, and he approached the subject with the mind of an engineer: he was seeking to discover discernible laws. He knew that there were laws dictating what happened in the physical world, laws that were well understood by physicists and chemists. He thought there must be similar laws that dictated affairs in the human world.

“It’s an orderly world, the physical world is. It follows certain laws. And so I thought: Well, the same thing’s got to be true for how people can best live and work together,” Koch recalled. “So I started reading everything I could on the subject.”

Koch read the work of Karl Marx and other socialist thinkers. He read books on history, on economics, on philosophy, and on psychology. But for all the breadth of his research, it appears that his conclusions about the world came to rest on the small patch of ideological terrain where he was raised. As a boy, Koch’s father had regaled Charles and his brothers with horror stories about his time in the Soviet Union, where he had helped Stalin’s regime build oil refineries. He had impressed upon his boys the evils of government and the inevitable overreach that seemed to arise when the state interfered with the activities of free people.

Charles Koch became enamored with the thinking of economists and philosophers like Ludwig von Mises and Friedrich Hayek, two Austrian academics who did most of their formative work during the 1930s and 1940s. In later years, Charles Koch would be described as a libertarian or a conservative. But these were imperfect labels that didn’t capture his true world view. More than anything, he was an Austrian economist, or a “classical liberal,” as he liked to call it. Hayek, in particular, put forward a radical concept of capitalism and the role that markets should play in society, and his thinking had an enduring effect on Charles Koch.

In Hayek’s view, even well-intentioned state actions ended up causing far more human suffering than the market-based ills that they were meant to correct. His most famous example of this was the policy of rent control, which was big in Hayek’s hometown of Vienna. Politicians put a cap on rent prices to help people who rented homes and apartments. But Hayek described a long list of unintended consequences. The controls made it unprofitable for landlords to reinvest their cash in money-losing apartments, for example, so those apartments devolved into squalor. Because there was no incentive to build new apartment buildings, housing shortages became perpetual. Big families were stuck in small apartments because they couldn’t afford to move out of their rent-controlled dwellings. Hayek said this proved a simple point: cutting one thread in the tapestry of a free market—even with the goal of helping people—only unraveled other parts of the tapestry.

Hayek was almost religious when it came to describing what the market could do when left to its own devices. He believed that the market was more important, and more beneficial, than the institution of democracy itself. A market was able to mediate all the wishes of everyone on earth. When people entered a market, their demands instantly put a price on the thing they wanted. The market also put a price on the things that they had to offer (like their labor). These prices were not dictated or set by a king. Instead, they were derived from the push and pull of supply and demand. The prices in a free market were the most honest assessment of reality that humans could ever hope to achieve. Government, on the other hand, was never really able to mediate between all the competing needs of its people. It was impossible for everyone in a large society to come to some sort of consensus that the government could then enforce through law. Laws and regulations were unworthy tools to use to deal with problems of the natural world, because the natural world was always changing. Laws were static; the world was fluid. Only the market could respond to the ways the world rapidly changed, Hayek believed.

And if markets were Hayek’s religion, then entrepreneurs were his saints. He saw entrepreneurs as the lifeblood of adaptation and efficiency. They were the ones who spotted new ways of doing things. They were the ones who created new products, created new technology, established new orders when it was time for the old orders to decay.

Charles Koch believed this, too. From the very earliest days of Koch Industries, Charles Koch sought to stock his workforce full of entrepreneurs, employees who would keep their eyes open, learn constantly, and spot new opportunities on the horizon before others saw them. That’s why one of the first and most important jobs that Charles Koch and Sterling Varner tackled was bringing new blood into the company.

The two of them quickly began hiring some of the smartest minds they could find.



Roger Williams was an engineer with Mobil Oil Company, based outside of Houston, Texas. Williams had worked for Fred Koch back in the early 1960s but left the company to strike out on his own as an entrepreneur. His independent business venture had failed, so he took the job with Mobil and was still happily working there in 1968. That year, Williams was in a management meeting when he got a phone call from Sterling Varner, whom he’d worked with years before. Varner said he had a job offer for Williams: he wanted him to move to Wichita and help run Koch’s pipeline system. Williams politely declined. He was very happy with Mobil and felt no need to go job hopping.

Varner told him, “Well, you haven’t ever met Charles.” Williams remembered. It was true—he had never met Fred Koch’s son. At Varner’s suggestion, Williams took a trip to Wichita to meet Charles, just to talk and hear him out. Shortly after the meeting, he quit his job and moved to Kansas.

One of Williams’s first assignments was to open an office in Alaska, near the North Slope region, where Koch would set up a shipping business. Charles Koch and Sterling Varner came to visit his new operation, and they invited him to come back to Wichita with them on their corporate plane. As they flew over the densely wooded mountainsides of Alaska, the three men began discussing a thorny issue: What should they name the new company? Charles and Sterling had successfully fused the many companies Fred Koch ran into one firm, but now they needed to name it. Why not call the company Koch Industries? The name would honor Charles’s late father, and it was an easy enough catchall title for a group of businesses that were already very diverse.

Charles Koch wasn’t wild about the idea. He seemed embarrassed by the thought of having his last name stamped on the entire company. His name would be embossed on the letterhead, emblazoned on the sign outside the company headquarters, spoken on the lips of everyone who worked for him. There was a vanity about this that seemed at odds with Charles Koch’s nature. But Williams argued in favor of naming the company Koch. In his mind, the benefit of the name was that it was neutral, in the way Exxon was neutral. For many industries, neutrality was the enemy. Companies like Coca-Cola spent millions to ensure that their names weren’t neutral and forgettable. But the oil industry was different because Big Oil was cast as the villain in so many economic stories.

For this reason, “Koch” was the perfect moniker for the firm. It was slippery, hard to grasp. Everybody mispronounced it when they read the name, and when they heard the name, they confused it with the much better known soft-drink maker. Koch was the perfect flag to fly for a firm that sought to grow, and grow exponentially, while simultaneously remaining invisible. In June of 1968 Charles Koch announced that his father’s holdings would be consolidated into one company. And it would be named Koch Industries.



When he was in Wichita, Roger Williams met with Charles Koch and Sterling Varner in their new corporate suite. And that’s where he learned about the strategy at the heart of Charles Koch’s corporate reorganization.

Fred Koch’s fragmented holdings would be fused into one organization, but they would be combined in a loose way that made the new Koch Industries nimble. The new company would be divided up into a set of divisions that could be more easily managed than the stand-alone companies had been. As a single entity, these divisions would be bound together with one simple goal: to grow.

Koch Industries would grow in a way that reflected Sterling Varner’s approach to business. Varner was “opportunistic,” in a way that Koch employees used the word, meaning that he was always looking for new deals that were connected to businesses in which he already operated. When Koch was shipping natural gas, for example, Varner pushed the company to build a specialized natural gas refinery in Medford, Oklahoma, to process the gas into liquid by-products. In this way, Koch could expand while building on the skills it already possessed. The gas refinery, or “fractionator” as they called it, became a huge moneymaker.

Varner encouraged his senior managers, like Williams, to think the same way. Williams was told that his job wasn’t just to keep his head down and run his division—his job was to keep his eyes on the horizon, to scan the environment of his business for new opportunities. Even more important, Varner told Williams to pass this mentality on to everyone who worked for him. The pipeline employees, the engineers, the oil gaugers—all of them needed to look for new deals as they went about their daily work. Everybody was supposed to act like an entrepreneur who worked in the mergers and acquisitions department.

“When you get that idea spread among your people, then you’ve got gaugers out there with their eyes open. The ideas come in. If you’ve got a couple of thousand [employees] looking for things, you’re going to get some stuff that comes in that’ll be all right.” Williams said.

Charles Koch and Sterling Varner held quarterly meetings to evaluate how managers like Williams were doing in this regard. Williams was expected to report on his pipeline business and also to bring up new “high-quality investments” that he had spotted in the field.

A ritual was formed at these meetings. A manager like Williams would propose the idea for some new investment. And then the questions would begin. Charles Koch’s questions were relentless, seemingly never ending, and the managers understood that they must be prepared to answer all of them. If a manager didn’t have the answers, the topic was dropped until he could return with them.

The rhythm of corporate life at Koch Industries began to revolve around these quarterly meetings. And the rhythm beat a steady message into every manager and every employee below them down the chain: grow.

This message would soon be felt in the farthest corners of Koch Industries, such as the bayou country in southern Louisiana, where Koch Industries was running some of its largest pipeline and oil gathering operations. The oil gathering business was still the company’s foundation, handed down from Fred Koch. In Louisiana, Koch was reaping a fortune from the oil-rich land. And the ways in which Koch was reaping this fortune would soon be discovered by one of the company’s newest hires: a young oil gauger named Phil Dubose.

The company directives that came out of Wichita would become a daily part of Dubose’s life. And it would change him in ways that he would never be proud of. The directives also set Koch on a path that drew the attention of Kenneth Ballen and the US Senate Committee investigating oil theft on Indian land.



In 1968, Phil Dubose was working in a grocery store in rural Louisiana. His future didn’t look especially bright: he was in his late twenties, had no college education, and was married with three kids. He was raised in a part of Louisiana with chronically high unemployment, where many people worked intermittently and made most of their money in cash under the table. It might seem unlikely, then, that over the next twenty years Dubose would be promoted up through the ranks of Koch Industries, into the realm of senior management, where he would find himself in charge of a surprisingly large chunk of America’s energy infrastructure.

Dubose loved hard work. His mom was a hardworking farm girl who instilled in him the religion of an honest day’s pay for a hard day’s work. His dad was an oil company manager who considered weekends to simply be a time when he could get work done outside the office. Dubose didn’t finish college because he was inspired to join the army in 1962 when he was newly married and just a year out of high school. President John F. Kennedy’s call for public service, combined with the Cuban Missile Crisis, convinced Dubose that he needed to enlist. He served in Vietnam, and then came back home in need of work. That’s when he landed a job as manager of a local grocery chain.

Dubose’s life changed one day when a teenager asked if Dubose could give him more shifts at the store. Dubose told the boy that he’d allow it, but only if the kid brought his report cards to work so that Dubose could make sure his grades weren’t falling. This small decision changed the path of Dubose’s life. The kid’s father was named Don Cummings, and he was impressed to hear that a grocery store manager would care so much about his son’s grades. Cummings thanked Dubose, and then he offered him a job. Cummings said Dubose could work for him at a local oil company called Rock Island Oil. Cummings made a convincing pitch. Rock Island might sound like a tiny company, but it was owned by a conglomerate out of Wichita that was owned by the wealthy Koch family.

Oil companies garnered a lot of respect in the Gulf Coast. The economy in most bayou towns was tied to the rice harvest, which ran in boom and bust cycles. But the oil business was different. The money was steady, and the pay was good. Dubose knew this because his father was an engineer with Superior Oil Company, which people in the area referred to, even in casual conversation, as the Superior Oil Company. In the fifties and sixties, the swamplands around Lafayette, Louisiana, were like a microcosm of the entire US oil industry. It was a place full of gushers, in other words. There were tremendous oil deposits located beneath the marshy wetlands and out in the bayous, and the landscape was covered with oil wells. Across the country, oil drilling was increasing, and the price of oil was falling slowly each year through the 1960s.

Koch Industries hired Dubose as an oil gauger. His job would be to measure the oil in each tank before Koch collected it, and then he would pump it onto a barge and take it to one of Koch’s pipelines, where it would be shipped to a refinery. Dubose spent many of his days on the water, out on the bayou and river channels. He piloted a small barge that could navigate through just a few feet of water, an ideal craft for negotiating the marshy lands. He steered expertly through the fingerlike lanes, avoiding cypress stumps and rocks and muddy shallows. He went from oil well to oil well, collecting the crude that was held there in large tanks. After running a circuit of several tanks, he took the oil to one of Koch’s terminals, where it was fed into a pipeline or moved onto a larger barge for shipment.

But before he could drain the tanks, Dubose had to measure just how much oil was in there. There was a regimented series of steps to taking the measurements, a kind of standardized ritual that oil gaugers around the country followed. This ritual was codified in an industry standard published by the American Petroleum Institute. These standards were voluntary, however, and Koch Industries did not follow them. Dubose said he was given a playbook for taking oil without paying for it.

The Koch method for oil measurement followed a few simple steps. First, Dubose dropped his gauge line to see how deep the oil was. If the gauge line said it was fifteen feet and two inches, Dubose would record it as fifteen feet and one inch. Already, this meant that Dubose was getting an inch worth of oil for free. This was called “cutting the top.”

Then he measured the “gravity” of the oil, which determined its quality. The top-dollar crude oil fell within an API measurement of gravity between 40.0 and 44.9, so Dubose fudged the numbers to push it outside of that range. This way, Koch would pay the oil producer less for the oil, even if the quality was ideal. If the oil measured 40.0, then he would record it as 39.2, for example.

After Dubose drained the tank, he would take his final depth measurement, which was recorded to show how much oil Koch had taken. If Dubose measured that fourteen inches of oil were left, he would record it as fifteen inches. This meant he was paying for one less inch of oil than he had taken. This technique was called “bumping the bottom.”

Dubose learned the Koch method by rote. He estimated that by using it, he could get about ten to twelve extra barrels of crude from each tank he drained. That was only a small fraction of the whole, but it was enough to ensure that he was over at the end of every month. And he knew that the extra oil added up over time, because all of his coworkers were doing the same thing.

Dubose’s bosses measured the amount of oil that Dubose drained from each tank, and then they compared it against the amount of oil he finally delivered into Koch’s pipelines or terminals. Everybody knew that those numbers probably wouldn’t match up exactly, thanks to the slippery nature of oil. If a gauger was under, it meant that he delivered less oil into Koch’s pipelines or trucks than he gathered. If a gauger was over, on the other hand, then the opposite was true: he’d delivered more oil into Koch’s system than he had recorded gathering at the oil tanks. It was only possible to be over by mismeasurement because it was physically impossible for oil supplies to increase as they made their way through the supply chain.

At the end of each month, Koch tabulated its oil shipments and figured out if each was over or under. The company posted the results at the branch office where Dubose worked. If a gauger was consistently under, his manager would grill him and ask what was going wrong. If a gauger was consistently over, then he had no problems.

Dubose’s boss at the time was a manager named Doyle Barnett, who later recalled the reason for encouraging employees to be over. “You wanted to keep your company operating for sure. So, I guess I’d rather be over than short if I was the company,” Barnett said. His bias toward being over was widely shared by Koch managers across the country. Keith Langhofer, a Koch Oil manager overseeing Texas and New Mexico, would later tell federal investigators that he also encouraged his gaugers to be over.

“I think we probably take an aggressive approach to purchasing crude oil. We certainly don’t want to be short,” Langhofer said, while under oath. If an employee came up short, then he was punished or demoted. If an employee was consistently over, the company “didn’t do anything to him,” Langhofer said.

It was clear to Dubose that the Koch method was not the industry norm. New hires expressed shock at the company’s practices. In fact, the norm was for oil companies to be slightly under overall because it was more natural for them to lose some oil along the transportation chain rather than miraculously create oil, as Koch did. Even being slightly under, these other firms made money—oil was a profitable business, after all. The new hires at Koch either adapted, or they quit.

Dubose adapted. He knew in the back of his mind that he was effectively stealing oil. But it was only a little bit at a time. He took comfort in the fact that measuring oil was an inexact science. No one ever got it perfect.

“It’s a very gray area. And I think Koch saw this,” Dubose said. “They saw where they could manipulate this, because it’s such a gray area. And they took advantage of it.”



Koch’s oil gathering division delivered a steady flow of cash and profits into the company. This money gave Charles Koch a chance to put his management theories to the test. He encouraged his employees to look for new growth opportunities and to act like entrepreneurs. He wanted to lead by example. In his first years as head of Koch Industries, Charles Koch put together one of the most brilliant and profitable deals in the history of Koch Industries. The deal involved an oil refinery.

Since the late 1950s, Fred Koch had owned a minority share in the Great Northern oil refinery outside of Minneapolis, near the Pine Bend Bluffs natural reserve. The other shareholders in the refinery were an oil tycoon named J. Howard Marshall II and the Great Northern Oil Company. In 1969, the refinery didn’t look like a gold mine. Competition in the sector was fierce, with new refineries being put into production monthly.

But the Pine Bend refinery, as everyone called it, had a secret source of profits. And this source of profits could be traced to exactly the kind of government intervention that Hayek hated most. In the 1950s, President Dwight Eisenhower capped the amount of oil that could be imported into the United States, in one of the federal government’s many ploys to protect domestic oil drillers. (Imported oil was often cheaper than domestic oil, so US drillers wanted it kept out.) But there was a loophole in that law that allowed unlimited imports from Canada. As it happened, Canada was the primary source of oil processed at the Pine Bend refinery. Pine Bend was one of only four refineries in the nation that was able to buy cheaper imported oil in unlimited quantities, giving it a huge advantage over firms that were forced to buy mostly domestic oil. The four companies who benefited from this loophole received a second advantage from the government. Thanks to a complex voucher system for oil imports, companies like Koch were able to “double dip” and exchange their voucher tickets for domestic oil in a scheme that gave them a subsidy of $1.25 per barrel. This loophole boosted profits, and Fred Koch had been happy to remain a minority shareholder and enjoy the windfall.

In 1969, Charles Koch executed a secret plan that would increase those profits beyond anything Fred Koch could imagine. Charles approached J. Howard Marshall and convinced Marshall to sell his share in the refinery in exchange for shares in Charles Koch’s newly created firm, Koch Industries. When that secret deal closed, Charles Koch was a majority shareholder in the Pine Bend refinery. He then approached Great Northern, now a minority shareholder, and convinced that company to sell its ownership stake. By the end of the year, Koch Industries was the sole owner of the Pine Bend refinery. Charles Koch saw something in the refinery that others didn’t see.

There was, however, one significant obstacle standing in the path of Charles Koch’s plan. It was a labor union.

Workers at the Pine Bend refinery had been organized in a union since the 1950s. The union was deeply entrenched and powerful. No sooner had Charles Koch purchased the Pine Bend refinery than he learned that he could not control it. Charles Koch had almost total authority over Koch Industries, but his authority was hemmed in at the Pine Bend refinery. The union set the rules in Pine Bend, and the union set the wages. Over the years, the labor contracts in Pine Bend became so favorable to the employees that even some of the union members thought that it was a little excessive.

In the late 1960s, most CEOs considered powerful unions to be a fact of life. The New Deal included pro-union laws, passed in the 1930s, that made unions almost indomitable. It was a losing game to take on unions; their power was too great to challenge. Most companies chose to accommodate organized labor.

Charles Koch faced this same choice, and he chose to fight. The battle against organized labor at Pine Bend was the first to test Charles Koch’s resolve. His first move was to find the right commander for the conflict. Charles Koch found his man in the spring of 1971, when he attended an industry conference in California and met an oil industry engineer named Bernard Paulson.

Paulson was living in Corpus Christi at the time and managing an oil refinery for Coastal Oil & Gas. Paulson was instantly impressed with Charles Koch. Like so many people who met him, Paulson was first struck by Koch’s intelligence. Paulson had met a lot of impressive people in the business—self-made millionaires and wildcatters—but even when compared against such characters, Charles Koch stood apart. There was nothing of the wildcatter about Charles Koch. He was not a flamboyant man who needed to impress strangers. He was an engineer by temperament, a man who questioned more than he talked. Charles Koch also seemed taken with Paulson—the two men quickly hit it off and Koch asked Paulson if he’d like to get dinner. Paulson agreed, and they talked a long time over dinner that night. Koch described his new investment at Pine Bend. The deal made perfect sense to Paulson. They talked about the oil refining business in-depth. Refining is the kind of hyper-complicated business that only two engineers could discuss in detail over dinner, and that’s what the two of them did.

After Paulson returned to Texas, Charles Koch called him. They talked more, and soon Koch offered him a job. It seemed to Paulson that he had one job qualification that was especially important: he knew how to handle unions. When Paulson was hired to run the Coastal Oil refinery in Texas, the company had narrowly avoided a vote to unionize its employees. Paulson took over the business, and a few years later there was another union vote. He worked hard to convince his employees that union membership only hurt them, and he bargained hard against unionized firms that tried to get contracting work at the refinery. When still another union vote occurred under his management, the union lost by a five-to-one margin. Paulson had proved that he was adept at keeping unions out of an oil refinery, no matter how hard they might fight to get in. During their conversations Charles Koch told Paulson how toxic the union was in Pine Bend. Koch Industries needed to regain control. Breaking the union would be a key part of Paulson’s job.

Paulson was, in many ways, the perfect man for this job. He came from tough circumstances—he was raised on a small farm in Michigan and educated in a one-room schoolhouse. He wasn’t sentimental about business, and he knew how to stick out a hard situation. One of Paulson’s heroes was General George S. Patton, the military hero who was best known for his rousing speeches that gave soldiers the courage they needed to head into battle. Patton had famously told his recruits: “Americans, traditionally, love to fight. All real Americans love the sting of battle. . . . Americans love a winner and will not tolerate a loser. Americans play to win all the time.” Paulson yearned to be a leader who had the kind of inner strength that Patton possessed.

In 1971, Paulson joined Koch Industries. He was transferred immediately to Pine Bend, where he took control as manager of the refinery.

He immediately began, in his words, “to straighten it out.”



CHAPTER 3




The War for Pine Bend

(1971–1973)

Public policy concerning labor unions has, in little more than a century, moved from one extreme to the other. . . . [Unions] have become the only important instance in which governments signally fail in their prime function: the prevention of coercion and violence.

—Friedrich A. Hayek, 1960

Married life ain’t hard when you got a union card,

A union man has a happy life when he’s got a union wife.

Oh, you can’t scare me, I’m sticking to the union,

I’m sticking to the union ’til the day I die.

—Lyrics of the folk song “Union Maid” by Woody Guthrie, 1940

Bernard Paulson arrived for his first day on the job at the Pine Bend refinery in 1971.

As he drove to work, Paulson traveled down two-lane country roads that passed through a sparsely populated landscape of rolling corn and soybean fields. The refinery is located near the tiny town of Rosemount, Minnesota, about twenty miles south of Minneapolis and Saint Paul. Good-paying jobs were scarce in this place. The local kids were raised on farms, and when they graduated from public high school—if they graduated from high school—they didn’t have many job options other than farming. There was a smattering of industrial plants throughout the area: an ammonia plant near Rosemount and a paper plant across the river in Wisconsin, for example. But these jobs didn’t pay a lot. The best source of jobs throughout the 1960s was at the Great Northern Oil Company, which had just recently been renamed the Koch Refining Company. Jobs at the refinery were sought after. They were union jobs, with union benefits. A guy could get hired at the refinery right out of high school and soon make the kind of steady wage that supported a mortgage and a family.

The refinery played a towering role in the local economy, and it dominated the landscape as well. As Paulson drove nearer to the refinery, he would have been able to see this for himself. The refinery became visible on the horizon many miles before Paulson arrived there, and it was an arresting sight. After passing many miles of rolling hills, small farmhouses, tractors, and grain silos, the refinery came into view and looked very much like the skyline of a small city. But there was something alien, even ominous about this skyline. The towers in the skyline didn’t have any windows. They spewed clouds of white steam and gas, and some of them, on the south end of the refinery, spewed columns of flame into the sky. The gargantuan torches burned so steadily that airline pilots used them as a landmark when they approached the local airport.

To reach the refinery gates, Paulson drove along a highway that ran roughly parallel to the Mississippi River, which was hidden behind a dense stand of pine and oak trees. Great Northern was smart to locate the refinery where it did, near a big, wide spot in the Mississippi called Pine Bend. In this part of Minnesota, rivers are not scenic waterways but industrial transit tools. The river afforded passage for giant barges toting mountains of grain or coal, or, when they were loaded at Koch Refining, crude oil and asphalt. The barges took these commodities down south at a much cheaper rate than either rail or road, at least when the river wasn’t frozen over during Minnesota’s brutal winters.

Paulson pulled off the highway onto an access road that led to the refinery’s front gate. At the base of the giant towers, there was a squat office building made of beige bricks, just north of a parking lot where Paulson steered his car. This was the refinery’s main office, where Paulson would work. As he drove into the lot, he noticed that the parking spots were marked by signs with employees’ names on them. The spots were apparently reserved for individuals, and he saw that the best parking spot, the one nearest the sidewalk to the office door, had his name on it. Paulson had arrived early, as he always did, and most of the parking spots were empty. He pulled in to the best spot—the one marked with his name—and turned off his car.

Paulson walked down the sidewalk and into the double glass doors of the office building. One of the first things he told his assistant that first day was to get rid of the reserved parking spots.

“I said: ‘If you want the best spot, you get here early.’ ”



Bernard Paulson often wore cowboy boots to work. They were a parting gift from his employees back in Texas, and he wore them with pride because they reminded him how well he’d gotten along with employees in the past. He considered himself a good leader, and a fair leader, even if he was tough.

He saw very quickly that Charles Koch had been correct. Paulson’s leadership skills were needed, and needed desperately, at the Pine Bend refinery. Paulson saw this when he started doing the rounds at Pine Bend. Unlike most managers, he came to work on Saturdays. He arrived early on the weekends, just like he did on the weekdays, and he walked the grounds to inspect operations firsthand. What he saw often appalled him. He came across employees who were sleeping. He stopped and watched them sleep next to the large machines where superheated petrochemicals passed through pipes under extreme pressure—enough pressure to cause an explosion if a problem went undetected for too long. Paulson woke up the employees, and he didn’t do it gently.

Sleeping on the job in an oil refinery is not like sleeping on the job at a car factory. The Pine Bend refinery covered seven hundred acres, and it was a landscape of winding pipes, giant tanks, and looming towers with walkways between them. This was a dangerous landscape, a massive circulatory system full of inflammable liquids under high pressure. The refinery was divided into different “units,” or different machines that each had a unique function. Each unit, in turn, had a team of operators who oversaw it. There were usually three operators per unit, men who would sit for long shifts—sometimes ten-hour shifts, sometimes longer—babysitting the complex and dangerous chemical reactions happening inside the machinery. If everything went well, it was a mundane job. If things didn’t go well, it could quickly turn into a disaster.

Oil arrived at the refinery by pipeline, and it was stored in giant, white tanks. This crude oil was then moved into the giant “boiler” units, which were giant furnaces that heated the oil to around 700 degrees Fahrenheit. Running the boilers is a dangerous and vital job. When a young man named Lowell Payton was hired at the Pine Bend refinery, he noticed that there was a tall, thick wall around the boiler. He asked what that wall was for, and he remembers his boss telling him: “That’s so if the boiler blows up, your body won’t be found fifty miles away.”

After the oil is heated up, it undergoes a series of chemical reactions that seem to border on alchemy. Oil looks like nothing more than shiny black goo, but it contains a remarkably diverse set of chemicals. The heat unwinds the chemical chains that kept these riches together and breaks free a rainbow of compounds like gasoline, butane, kerosene, propane, diesel fuel, and an almost countless array of petrochemicals that are used to make everything from clothing to lip balm and plastic building material. This chemical unwinding happens inside the most visible part of an oil refinery: the giant towers. The towers are called fractionators because they break the crude oil into fractions, or its component parts. The heated crude oil is pumped into the bottom of the towers, where it is vaporized. The oil vapors float up through the fractionating tower like smoke through a chimney. Along the way, the different components of oil are captured on a series of trays inside the tower. One tray separates out kerosene, another gasoline, and so on. Vaporized crude oil is like the apocryphal buffalo that the Plains Indians used to hunt: every piece is used, nothing is left to waste. One of the biggest skills for oil refining is figuring out how to squeeze every possible drop of every possible petrochemical out of the crude without wasting anything to evaporation.

Paulson knew this business very well, and he was obsessed with running the refinery as efficiently and profitably as possible. But he wanted order among the men who worked in the units. Paulson was tall and imposing, and when he toured the refinery grounds, he walked like a navy admiral inspecting the deck of a battleship. He was often trailed by two assistants, and he wasn’t shy about barking orders or using crude language.

This might have been intimidating, or even frightening, to many employees. But the refinery employees were not afraid of Bernard Paulson. They were not afraid of anybody, in fact. They had the union to back them.

Employees at Pine Bend were organized under the auspices of a powerful labor union called the Oil, Chemical and Atomic Workers Union—or the OCAW, for short. They belonged to a local chapter called the OCAW Local 6-662.

Men took an oath when they joined the OCAW. They raised their right hand and they pledged allegiance to the union. More specifically, they pledged their allegiance to their fellow union brothers and sisters. For these men, it was union first, company second. The OCAW men gathered for meetings in rented halls, where they held votes on union contracts and discussed their problems with certain supervisors or managers. They drank regularly at a little bar south of the refinery called the House of Coates, which was built to look like a log cabin or large hunting lodge.

The union president, Joseph Hammerschmidt, was known for drinking heroic quantities of alcohol at the House of Coates and then talking at very high volume about the refinery’s management and what he planned to do to that management. Hammerschmidt was a union man down to the level of his DNA; he was a “hard case,” as his fellow workers called him. Everybody at the refinery knew that it was Hammerschmidt who led contract negotiations with a nearby company called Red Wing Pottery, which also employed OCAW members. During the negotiations, Hammerschmidt refused to believe that Red Wing Pottery was really in the financial trouble it claimed to be in. Even when Red Wing showed him the company books, Hammerschmidt refused to believe the books were genuine. The OCAW couldn’t reach a contract agreement with Red Wing, and Red Wing’s owners were forced into bankruptcy. Hammerschmidt seemed proud of this fact. It was like a scalp on his wall. No damn company was going to boss around the OCAW.

Hammerschmidt carried himself like a provincial governor while he belted back shots of whiskey with his union friends at the House of Coates, and he had reason to act like that. Like a governor, Hammerschmidt had real power. The OCAW was a strong union in itself, but maybe even more important was the fact that the OCAW was located in a heavily unionized state. This was important: the OCAW didn’t just draw power from itself; it drew power from an interlocking web of loyalty oaths with other unions in the state. The police were unionized, the truckers were unionized, the teachers were unionized, the newspaper reporters were unionized, the chemical workers were unionized. The OCAW men were loyal to their own union, and the union was, in turn, loyal to other unions in the state. If one union went on strike, the other unions would support it. Men like Hammerschmidt could put a company out of business if they felt like it. Red Wing Pottery was proof of that. And the OCAW wasn’t shy about using this power to its members’ benefit.

During the 1950s and 1960s, the OCAW negotiated a framework of rules at the Pine Bend refinery that did far more than provide higher pay and benefits for the union members. The rules gave the OCAW a large measure of control over the refinery’s operations.

Paulson saw the fruits of this arrangement shortly after he took over as the plant manager.

When an OCAW employee found a broken valve while inspecting the refinery, for example, that employee didn’t fix the valve. Instead, he sat down and radioed for help. The union had broken the workforce down by specialty skills—or by “trades,” to use the union terminology—and the men only performed work that fell within their trade. When an employee found the broken valve, he called someone whose trade was insulation to come and unwrap the insulation around the pipe. Then he’d call a guy from the electrical trade to check the wiring or shut off electricity to the problem area. And these employees who came to help fix the valve had to drive a truck to the site (the refinery covered seven hundred acres, after all), and there was a union rule that prohibited any union employee from riding in a vehicle with a supervisor. To satisfy this rule, the refinery had a union guy whose job was to sit in a pickup truck and ferry people around the refinery. As the different tradesmen were called on the radio, the pickup truck driver went to collect them—first the insulation specialist, then the electrician—and take them down to the problem site. The truck driver job was one of the cushier positions that the union carved out for its members. Only after the different tradesmen were called, and were ferried down to the site, and did their work one by one, only then could the leaky valve be fixed.

There were also rules for overtime pay that even the OCAW men found amusingly absurd. One rule stated that a shift worker needed to be given at least two hours of notice if he was going to be asked to stay late and work. If he didn’t get that notice, then he received a bonus payment worth two hours’ work plus time and a half. Thanks to this rule, it was often hard to locate anyone at the refinery around two in the afternoon, exactly two hours before the four o’clock shift change came around. The control rooms were empty at two. Then everyone suddenly reappeared at their desks at two fifteen—available to stay late and work overtime if asked, but in need of the bonus payment to do it.

Even longtime union members recognized that these rules were too good to be reasonable. “It’s crazy—I don’t know how they got what they got. The union had management by the balls,” recalled Ernie Tromberg, who was hired at the refinery in 1956 when he was still in his early twenties.

Paulson talked often to Charles Koch on the telephone. He told his boss what he was seeing in the refinery. This might not have been news to Charles Koch. He had seen the union operate firsthand. For at least one summer when he was younger, Charles Koch had worked at Pine Bend and must have seen the near impunity enjoyed by union bosses like Joseph Hammerschmidt. Koch couldn’t have been shocked as Paulson relayed over the phone what he was seeing in the plant. The union put at risk everything that Charles Koch was hoping to build. “He told me, ‘I’m worried that the union is going to take this company down,’ ” Paulson recalled.

Shortly after arriving at the refinery, Paulson was given his chance to fight the OCAW. The union contract was set to expire at the end of 1972. Negotiating a new contract would give Paulson, and Charles Koch, a chance to rewrite the refinery rules and make the place operate as they believed it should.

In April of 1972, Paulson made his first move. He scheduled Hammerschmidt to work on Easter Sunday.

Hammerschmidt, apparently, did not want to work on Easter. So Hammerschmidt did what was commonly done in those days. He told Paulson no. He wasn’t going to work Easter Sunday.

Hammerschmidt could be forgiven if he thought that his open insubordination would not be challenged or punished, because that’s how things worked at Pine Bend: if the union guys were unhappy about something—say, the disciplining of a fellow worker—they simply dropped what they were doing. They walked to the front office and took a seat until the matter was resolved, and management usually caved to their demands. It seemed that Paulson would have caved as well because he wasn’t popular with the employees. The cowboy boots, the military-style inspections, waking the guys up and embarrassing them on Saturday mornings—all of it had soured the employees on Paulson. He recalls hearing what the union men were saying behind his back: “They were going to jam those boots ‘down Paulson’s ass and send him back to Texas.’ ”

When the shift began on Easter, and Hammerschmidt wasn’t there, Paulson fired him immediately. In the eyes of the OCAW, Paulson had just declared war.



In the late fall and early winter of 1972, it was time for Koch Refining Company and the OCAW to negotiate a new labor contract.

There was a regular calendar and set of traditions that surrounded these contract negotiations. A labor contract is a broad agreement between a union and a company that sets out the terms of employment at the workplace, from the level of wages to the value of extra benefits like health care coverage. The contract even laid out workplace rules, like the procedures for firing a worker or the means by which an employee could file a grievance to complain about abuses by management. The labor contracts typically lasted about three years. When the contracts were set to expire, a group of Koch Refining lawyers would go into a meeting room and sit down across the table from a group of negotiators selected by the OCAW. The union negotiators were almost always refinery employees rather than lawyers or negotiating experts. When it came to bargaining with the company, the union men relied on their personal knowledge of how the refinery worked. They knew what to ask for, and they knew what they could offer in return. To get what they wanted, the union men relied on their collective willpower. They stood together, ready to walk off the job as a group if management did not agree to their requests.

During his first meeting with the OCAW team, Paulson sat down in the meeting room, flanked by his company lawyers. Across the table sat Joseph Hammerschmidt, the union president. Even though Hammerschmidt had been fired, the union insisted that he be present for the negotiations. The union had already filed a grievance over Hammerschmidt’s firing, and, in the meantime, he was still a member.

After everybody was settled, Paulson presented his offer.

Koch would unilaterally rewrite all the work rules inside the refinery. The seniority system the union enjoyed would be gone. The rules that barred employees from doing work in different “trades” would be gone. The employee shuttle truck? Gone. The rule about a bonus payment for overtime without two hours’ notice? Gone. And then Paulson showed the union men that there would be precious little room for negotiation. These were the new rules. This was how things would work at the refinery. End of story.

This might have seemed like a bluff; like a way for Paulson to start the contract negotiations with a Texas swagger. But after Christmas, and into the first frigid days of the new year, it became clear to the union that Paulson was not bluffing. He was not going to negotiate.

In the eyes of the OCAW men, there was no choice as to what to do next.

On January 9, 1973, at four in the afternoon, the entire unionized workforce left their stations and walked off the property grounds. They walked out through the parking lot and then through a wide gate that led outside the refinery property. As they passed through the gate, the gate became something entirely new. It became a picket line. Crossing the picket line marked a moment of no return. After they left the gate, the OCAW men became locked out of the refinery. They became locked out from their jobs. They became unemployed.

The refinery inside that gate had provided the men with everything they had: the income that fed their kids and paid down their mortgages. It made a middle-class life possible for them. And none of the men knew if they would ever get back inside or if their job would ever be open to them again. Bernard Paulson and Charles Koch had made it clear at the negotiating table: Koch Refining planned to break the OCAW. And the union men had to make it clear to Bernard Paulson and Charles Koch: the OCAW could not be broken.

This wasn’t an easy thing to do. None of the OCAW men were happy about using their jobs as a bargaining chip. Joseph Quinn, for example, had a wife and five children. Quinn didn’t see his kids a lot—he missed at least five Christmas mornings in a row because he’d been working at the refinery. His wife, Rita, handed out the presents without him. But through his absence, Quinn gave his kids a life that he had never known. He and Rita owned a tidy home in suburban Minneapolis, near Rosemount. Their kids went to good public schools. They didn’t work long days in the farm fields under the hot summer sun, as Joseph Quinn had done growing up in western Minnesota.

But Quinn didn’t question his union when the OCAW told him to walk off the job. There was a simple idea that motivated his obedience: solidarity. Solidarity encapsulated everything that the union stood for and everything that made the union strong. Quinn hadn’t learned about solidarity growing up. He was raised by a farmer, so he learned about individual accomplishment and the value of hard work. Quinn’s dad taught him that unions were Communist front groups and that unions encouraged laziness. But when he moved to Minneapolis, the only jobs available to Quinn were union jobs. When Quinn raised his right hand and pledged allegiance to the OCAW, he pledged solidarity to his union brothers at the refinery. But the pledge didn’t sink in too deeply; Quinn just wanted the job.

Then Quinn got in trouble for the first time.

One of his jobs at the refinery was to check on the level of crude oil in the big white tanks on the south end of the plant. This was a critical job because the tanks could overflow if their levels weren’t closely monitored. At the end of one shift, Quinn was unable to check on the oil in one tank because men were welding some equipment there. After the men left, he went to check the oil levels, but a fellow worker was urinating near the hatch that Quinn was supposed to check, so Quinn backed off to give him privacy. The end of his shift came, and Quinn still hadn’t checked the level of that oil tank. He told his manager as much, and his manager told him not to worry about it.

“The next thing I knew, that big, beautiful white tank was black, covered completely in oil,” Quinn recalled. The tank had overflowed, and it would not have done so if Quinn had checked the oil levels as he was supposed to.

Quinn was suspended without pay for three days for the transgression. The paycheck that covered his mortgage, that fed his kids, would be about one-third short of what it should be. He couldn’t afford to take a financial hit like that, and he didn’t think it was fair that he should need to. So Quinn filed a union grievance over the punishment. A grievance is a formal complaint that only union members can file. It is a complaint that is handled somewhat like a lawsuit, with the union acting as the employee’s personal legal team. Without a union, there are no formal grievances—an employee can simply complain and he or she is on their own to persuade the boss to take their complaint seriously. With a grievance, the employee has the union on their side.

After Quinn filed his grievance, he was summoned to the refinery offices. He went into a meeting room and found a company lawyer there, who wanted to discuss Quinn’s punishment. But Quinn wasn’t alone. There was a representative of the OCAW sitting at the table next to him. As Quinn and the company lawyer were talking over the issue, the OCAW man kept interrupting. He kept correcting Quinn, kept interjecting new details into the story. Quinn disagreed vehemently with some of those details, even though the details skewed the story to Quinn’s benefit. Quinn even started to argue with the OCAW man as the company lawyer sat there and watched. Finally, the company lawyer called an end to the meeting, seemingly in exasperation. It was hard to get a straight answer about anything with the pushy OCAW man sitting right there.

A few days after that meeting, Quinn was called to the front office once again. This time it was only his manager there. His manager pointed to the desk, where there was a check made out to Quinn in the amount of the wages he had lost from the three days he was suspended. “He told me, ‘Don’t take this as a victory.’ But there was the victory right there on his desk!” Quinn recalled. Quinn happily took that check and cashed it.

The episode taught Quinn an important lesson. The OCAW negotiator had made the grievance process hellish for the company lawyer and had chosen to fight for just three days’ wages for just one guy. Thanks to that episode, Quinn understood what solidarity meant: “I saw how things really work.” When it came time to walk off the job, Quinn walked off the job. He didn’t question the OCAW, because the OCAW hadn’t questioned him. It was all for one and one for all.



When the strike began, Joseph Quinn helped organize the picket line. The refinery employees took scheduled shifts to picket at the refinery’s three main gates to ensure that the picket line was staffed around the clock. The OCAW organized much of this activity out of a small trailer parked just outside the refinery property. Guys lounged and played cards outside the trailer. Others showed up to get picket signs that they would hold during their shift, signs bearing slogans like: “Koch For Slavery” and “OCAW LOCAL 6-662—ON STRIKE.” It was Quinn’s job to make sure the shifts ran smoothly and that the signs were always available.

The striking employees carried placards and signs, but the picket line was far more than a simple form of public protest. It was an economic weapon that had been employed to great effect over one hundred years of American labor struggles. The goal of the picket line was to financially strangle Koch Refining Company.

The picket line was a barricade designed to stop any truck traffic going in or out of the refinery—a barricade that would effectively shut the refinery down. A huge proportion of products made at the refinery were shipped out by big tanker trucks that took heating oil to nearby school buildings or gasoline to nearby service stations. If the trucks couldn’t come and go, Koch couldn’t sell its products. The OCAW aimed to starve the company out, forcing it back to the negotiating table in a weakened position.

The tanker truck drivers—and even the cops who patrolled the road outside the refinery—belonged to the Teamsters union, which meant that crossing the picket line was akin to violating their own sacred oath of solidarity. The picket line worked. On a typical day at the refinery, about two hundred tanker trucks passed through the gates to pick up fuel and ship it out. That number dropped to near zero after Quinn helped get the OCAW picketers organized and standing in shifts.

The union had cut off the oxygen supply of cash to Koch’s refinery. They knew that the owner, Charles Koch, was losing enormous amounts of money for every minute the OCAW was on strike. It seemed certain that Charles Koch would have no choice but to fold. He might hold out for a week or two to save face, but there was no way Koch could hold out for long.

These union men clearly had no idea who they were dealing with.



Bernard Paulson was prepared. He had set up a cot in his office, a cot where he would sleep for most of the next nine months, rarely leaving the refinery, rarely leaving his post. He had also stockpiled food. The refinery had a large cafeteria near the office building, and when the union workers walked off the job, Paulson gave an order that the cafeteria was to be open twenty-four hours a day. A skeleton crew of nonunion workers would be living inside the refinery gates, and Paulson made sure that the cafeteria was open to them whenever they needed to eat. And they would need to eat at odd times during the strike because there weren’t going to be any more eight-hour shifts. Running the refinery would now be an around-the-clock job. There wouldn’t be regular mealtimes.

Paulson did more than just stockpile food. He had also quietly built the workforce he needed. Many members of this new workforce were the nonunion supervisors who worked at the refinery. They would each now do the job of two or three men, working sixteen-hour shifts. But even that wouldn’t be enough. So Paulson started making phone calls back to Texas, back to the oil-patch state where Paulson had friends and employees who thought the world of him. He called these old friends and asked them to come up to Minnesota to work. Shortly after the picket line was erected outside the refinery gates, Paulson arranged for helicopters to fly these workers into the refinery. The helicopters swooped in low over the refinery fences and landed on the refinery grounds to drop off his new workers from Texas and Oklahoma and other states where unions were not only rare but widely hated. Inside the main office building, Paulson converted a large room in the basement into a barracks for the new workers.

On the picket line, the OCAW men watched as the helicopters passed over them, hovered, and landed inside, delivering the workers who would replace them. The picket line was becoming symbolic.

But even with Paulson’s new workforce, it wasn’t easy to keep the refinery going. Paulson needed to run giant machines called reformers, for example, which made a vital chemical for Koch’s fuel products. The reformers could not be started with the simple press of a button, however. They needed tank loads of hydrogen to spark their ignition. After running out of hydrogen, Paulson knew he couldn’t convince any local truckers to break the picket line and deliver more to him. So he called some old friends of his at Amoco, and they told him about a solution: he could use natural gas—which came into the refinery via pipeline—to ignite the reformers. It was a tricky, complicated process, but Paulson and his team figured out how to make it work. Soon he had all the reformers firing, and the fractionating towers were running at full steam.

On the first night of the strike, however, one of the boiler units—the large furnaces that superheated oil before it was sent to the fractioning towers—wasn’t working right. The mechanical problems inside the boiler went unnoticed for many hours because the unit was understaffed. Usually the boiler was monitored by three employees, but Paulson had to run the unit with fewer. The boiler malfunction grew worse until the system collapsed with an incendiary blast. It was a small miracle that nobody was killed—the explosion tore a gaping hole in the side of the boiler. The unit was shut down in a panic, the valves were closed to stop the flow of oil and prevent a fire that could have engulfed the property. The salaried supervisors went out and inspected the boiler. It was a total loss.

A manager came into Paulson’s office and told him the news. The boiler couldn’t be fixed, the manager said, at least not without help from the unionized operators who ran the machines. Koch would need to bring the operators back from the picket line for the repair job. “He said, ‘We’ve lost the strike. I want my operators back,’ ” Paulson recalled. “And I said to him, ‘If you believe that, hit the effing road.’ ”

Paulson again called one of his friends in Texas, waking him in the middle of the night. He said he needed an urgent favor and told his friend about the explosion. Paulson’s old friend hustled a team together and got them on a plane to Minneapolis. From there, the team was flown by helicopter into the refinery. The unit was up and running again within about a week.

At night, before he went to bed, Paulson walked around the refinery to make sure his men were doing well. He dropped into the monitoring rooms where the men were staring at screens, gaunt from spending unending hours on the job. The pressure on them was tremendous. Everyone knew that there was a potential catastrophe waiting to happen every minute of every day. The boiler explosion was proof of that. Now, with a skeleton crew overseeing them, the boilers were firing and pumping out superheated, flammable fuels throughout the refinery. It was almost reckless to run the refinery so short-staffed, when just a few minutes of inattention could get people killed. One employee quit after suffering from exhaustion and an anxiety attack that left him nearly catatonic.

When Paulson walked his rounds at night, he made sure to exude confidence to keep the spirits of his employees high. “They said it was very important, my demeanor, during that strike,” Paulson recalled. “One of our salespeople, during that time, he called me Patton. He said, ‘All you lack are those two ivory-handled revolvers.’ ”



Weeks passed. The men on the picket line kept their positions at all hours. They choked off truck traffic going into the refinery. But standing outside the refinery gates, they could see that the fractionating towers were still spewing steam, and the flare towers were still shooting out flames.

The picket line was not able to stop every truck. Paulson’s workers from Texas and Oklahoma passed in and out of the refinery. Even some of the local nonunion truck drivers began to break the picket line, delivering and gathering fuel.

Ernie Tromberg, an OCAW employee who worked in one of the fractionating towers, watched the anger boil over among his coworkers as “scab” drivers approached. The union men stood in front of the trucks and waved their placards. But the scab trucks inched forward slowly, haltingly, heading into the refinery. Tromberg saw his coworkers assemble “jacks,” thorny balls made of outward-facing metal spikes and nails, and throw them on the ground in front of approaching trucks. Paulson estimates that Koch spent $100,000 (or about $593,000 when adjusted for inflation in 2018), to replace truck tires in the first few months of the strike alone.

Koch Refinery hired a private company called Wackenhut to police the gates, and the private guards looked like teenagers with rented badges. They only made the picketers angrier. Tromberg was standing near a truck as it passed when he heard the unmistakable tink of a jack being thrown into the truck’s wheel well. A young Wackenhut guard approached Tromberg from behind and accused him of throwing the jack. The guard escorted Tromberg over to a state police trooper, but the officer said there was nothing he could do because he hadn’t witnessed the event. Tromberg saw that the Wackenhut guards were helpless to do much of anything, and the picketers realized it.

An atmosphere of lawlessness began to surround the picket line. When scab drivers edged closer to the gates, the union men jumped up on the running boards of the trucks and pounded on the windows. When that didn’t stop the trucks, they grew more violent. “We had some pretty tough guys working there. They would open the doors and pull out drivers,” recalled Lowell Payton, a unionized worker who picketed outside the gates.

When the workers got violent, Paulson seized on their mistake. He went to court and filed a motion that would bar the OCAW from picketing in front of the refinery. Paulson’s lawyers argued that the OCAW’s property destruction and violence went far beyond the scope of legal union activity. A local district court judge agreed with the company and handed down a temporary restraining order against the union. The restraining order didn’t bar picketing outright, but it greatly limited what the union could do. The judge said the union must now be limited to having four men stand with picket signs at the refinery, where there had been dozens before. These four men would be prohibited from doing anything intimidating or violent. The unionized police officers at the site couldn’t stand back and remain neutral: they had a judge’s injunction to enforce. The judge’s order smothered the picketing.

As the third week passed and then the fourth week, the reality of the strike began to sink in. The men at the plant still had mortgages to pay and kids to support. They sought out part-time jobs in secret, and many of them found work, but it didn’t pay what the refinery had paid. As the strike dragged on, the OCAW members began to see just how easy it might be for them to fall from the middle class. They saw how easy it might be to lose their home, lose their car, endanger the economic future of their kids. And they knew who was responsible for this danger. They blamed Bernard Paulson. Many of the men began to hate Paulson and his Texas cowboy boots and his superior bearing. The men gathered at the Coates bar and drank and talked about what they might do. And their anger boiled over.

On Friday night, February 23, more than thirty union men gathered outside the refinery. Paulson and his employees had been camped inside the gates for about six weeks, and they couldn’t stay inside forever. The union men knew this, and they were waiting outside when a caravan of Paulson’s employees, packed inside a row of cars, drove out through the refinery gates. The union men pounded on hoods, broke car windows, and screamed at the workers inside. The picketers had been practicing a technique to tip the cars over by gathering in groups and rocking the cars from side to side. They tried this technique on the cars that passed. Someone fired gunshots into the refinery during the melee. No one was hit, and no one was able to determine who fired the gun.

Around this time, Bernard Paulson’s wife was alone at the couple’s home, taking care of their six children. One night a man called her house and asked if Paulson was there. She said he wasn’t and asked if she could take a message. The caller said she could, and he told her the message was that soon Mr. Paulson would not be breathing anymore. Then the caller hung up, leaving Mrs. Paulson alone with her thoughts and six sleeping children.

Bernard Paulson did not bend. He kept working, sleeping on the cot in his office. He was not going to quit; he was not going to back down in the face of threats.

Whenever Paulson needed encouragement, he picked up the phone and called Wichita.

“I worked directly for Charles, and we consulted several times a day. It was with his backing,” Paulson recalled. “He knew exactly what I was doing and why I was doing it.”

On the night of March 15, Paulson went to his office, laid down on his cot, and pulled up the covers before drifting off to sleep. He was exhausted, and he slept soundly. While he slept, someone carried out a plan that might have killed him and every employee to whom he had just said good night.

A set of railroad tracks ran along the west side of the refinery. The tracks carried tanker cars of crude oil and ran right into the middle of the refinery complex where the trains could load and unload fuel. At night, the tanker cars and diesel engines were often parked in a small depot outside the refinery, waiting for the next day’s delivery. It was common practice for railroad companies to leave the diesel engines idling throughout the night because it takes a lot of fuel to start the vehicles. Some of the refinery employees would have known this because a handful of them had once worked for the railroad. These men knew how the trains worked and knew where they were parked.

In the dark hours just after midnight on March 15, someone snuck between the train cars and engines near the refinery. The saboteur jumped up to the doorway of one of the diesel engines and climbed inside. It is unknown whether it was one person or a group of people who did this, but whoever went inside the engine knew how to operate it. They knew where to find the throttle and how to engage it. They pushed the throttle forward and leapt out of the train as it began to chug forward.

The diesel engine picked up momentum as it traveled down the track. The cab was empty, and there were no employees at the depot to spot the engine as it headed over empty cropland and gathered speed. At roughly one in the morning, the train was speeding directly toward the refinery. The tracks it rode led directly to the center of the plant, into a nest of pipes and silos and towers filled with flammable fuel.

Bernard Paulson woke up in his office to the phone ringing. He answered it and heard an employee shouting on the other end. Paulson was half asleep and trying to make sense of what he was hearing. There had been some kind of accident. A train crash. Paulson quickly dressed and ran out of his office. There were men shouting outside, and he ran toward them.

Then he saw a surreal thing. A diesel engine, lying on its side, in the middle of the refinery grounds. The giant train engine was still running.



When the train engine came hurtling through the refinery, it had been heading straight toward a large refining tower. But there were mechanisms set into the train tracks, called derailers, that acted as a safety stop to prevent damage from runaway trains. The engine hit the derailers at a high speed and the mechanisms did their job, flipping the steel engine onto its side and off the track, sending it skidding over the refinery grounds.

If the derailers had not been in place, if the train had kept going, it would have crashed directly into a series of gasoline lines, pumps and pipes. It is likely that an inferno would have engulfed the refinery and killed many of the men who were working there. Paulson could have been burned alive in his office. The wreck was roughly two hundred feet from where he’d been sleeping.

Paulson tried to absorb what he was seeing as he circled the diesel engine. One of his employees on shift at the time had worked on train lines before, and he climbed into the fallen engine and shut it off. Paulson stared at the wreckage and thought of all the people who had just narrowly avoided death. And he thought to himself: Who could do something like that? The wreck sent a clear message. If Koch aimed to destroy the OCAW, the OCAW would destroy Koch.
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